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N= =130 1945
= Front view of American prisoner of war camp at Puerto Princesa,
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= * on December 14, 194/,by the Japanese,
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SWPA-S1gC-/45=138/8 20 March 1945
(Atrocity)==Through study of bones and teeth, U.,S, 0fficers and
Medical Corpsmen are attempting to identify the more than one
hundred American military prisoners of wer, captured on Bataan
and Corregidor, and burned alive by the Japanese at a POW Camp,
(Puerto Princesa, Palawan Island, P,1.), 14 Dec 19%4. Picture
shows GI's taking a break during excavation of charred remains,
which will be properly protected and given military funeral and
full honors, Photographer: It. Rothberg
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SWPA-ESigC-45-13850 20 Varch 1945
(Atrocity)-=-Through study of bones and teeth, U.®. 0fficers and
Medical Corpsmen are attempting to ide f'v the more than one
hundred American military prisoners of war, captured at Batsan and
Corregidor, and burned

d alive by the Japanese at a POW Camp

Puerto Princesa, Palawan Islan Pels), 14 Dec 1944, Picture shows
(Puerto P 5 Pal Islend, Pile),

former air raid shelters in which were found the charred remains,
After examination for possible identification, the remains will be
burried and given military funeral and full honors.

Photographer: It. Rothberg,.
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SWPA-C1p0-45-13849 20 March 1945
(Atrocity)==Through study of bones and teeth, U,f. Officers and
Medical Corpsmen are attempting to identify the more than ocne
hundred American military prisoners of war, captured at Bataen

and Corregidor, and burned alive by the Japanese at a POW Camp,
(Puerto Princesa, Palawan Islend, P.I.), 14 Dec 1944. Picture shows
Medies excavating charred remains, which will be given military
funeral and full honors, after examination for poseible identifica=
tion, Photographer: Lt. Rothberg.
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SWPA-SigC-45-13854 20 March 1945
(Atrncify}-—Th?nuﬂh study of bones and teeth, U, S, Officers and Medical
Corpsmen are attempting to identify the more than one hundred American
military prisoners of waer, captured at Bataan and Corregidor, and burned

a POW Camp, (Puerto Princesa, Palawan Island,
1 Picture showe Medic examining skull for possible
identif ; ne will be properly protected,
awaiting military funeral and full honors later
Photographer: Lt. Rothberg
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» EWPA-SigC=45-13851 20 March 1945

o . 3 2 g - - T P 4 ]
(Atrocity)--Through study of bones and teeth, U, &, Officers and Medical

Corpemen are attempting to identify the more than one hun nerican
military prisoners of war, captured =at and Corregldor, and burhed
y the Japarsse at a POW Camp, (Puertc Princesa, Palawan Island,
Dec 1944. Picture shows lMediec examining charred boneg for
identificaticn, Remaine wlll be properly protected, awaiting

military funeral and full honors later.
Photographer: It. Rothberg.
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SWPA-F1gC-45-13852 20 March 1945

(Atrocity)--Through study of bones and teeth, U.S. Officers and Medical
Corpsmen are attempting to identify the more than one hundred American
militery prisoners of war, captured at Bataan and Corregidor, and
burned alive by the Japanese et a POW Camp, (Puerto Princesa, Palawan
Tsland, P.I.), 14 Dec 1944, Picture shows Medies examining charred
remaine for possible identification. Remaine will be properly pro-
tected and given military funeral and full honors. Photographer:
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SWPA-SigC=-45-13853 : 20 March 1945 .
(Atrocity)--Through study of bones and teeth, U. £, 0fficers and Nedical
Corpemen are attempting to identify the more than one hundred American
military prisoners of war, captured at Bataan and Corregidor, and burned
alive by the Japanese at a POW Camp, (Puerto Princesa, Palawan Island,
P.I.), 14 Dec 1944, Picture shows Medic examining gkull for possible
identification by means of the teeth, Charred remains will be properly
protected and given military funeral and full honore., Photographer:

Lt . Q-Cthbe'['g »
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SWPA=-EigC-45-13845 20 March 1945
(Atrocity)=-Through study of bonee and teeth, U,S, Officers and Medical
Corpemen are attempting to identify the more than one hundred American
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M= military prisoners of war, captured at Batasn and Corregidor, and burned
&) = alive by the Japenese at a POW Camp, (Puerto Princeea, Pelawan Isalnd,

— - 3 3

W= P.T.), 14 Dec 1944, Picture shows graves in which were interned the
& = charred remains after being given military funeral and full honors,.
== Photeographer: Lt. Rothberg.
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= ! (Atrocity)--Through study of bones and teeth, U. S. Officers and Medical

N= Corpemen ere attempting to identify the more than one hundred American
= military prisoners of war, captured et Bataan and Corregidor, and burned

o = elive by the Japanese at a POW Camp, (Puerto Princesa, Palawan Island,

w = P.I.), 14 Dec 1944, Picture shows cherred remains being interned in grave

and will be given military fumeral and full honors.
Photographers Lt Rothberg.
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SWPA-SigG-45-13846 20 March 1945
(Atrocity)--Through study of bones and teeth, U.S. Officers and

Medical Corpsmen are attempting to identify the more than one

hundred American military prisoners of war, captured at Bataesn and
Corregidor, and burned alive by the Japenese at a FOW Camp, (Puerto
Princesa, Palawan Island, P.I.), 14 Dec B4, Picture shows graves

for internment of charred remains, which will be given military funeral
and full honors. Photographers It. Rothberg.
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PREFACE

wa0eZ

L 5
The attached affidavits by competent ecelesiastical,
civilian and military witnesses represent only & fragment of the
ﬁa mounting volume of available evidence bearing on the wholesale
%"4 destruction of Manila, in February 1945.
Em  Reliable evidence based on interrogation of Prisoners
& of War, signal perscnnel and captured documents reveal the
a—l staggering fact that the sack of Manila and its attendant horrors

are not the act of a crazed garrison in a last-ditch, berserk

il

defense but the coldly planned purpose of the Japanese High Com~

ver

@’T‘ mand, The fateful order that put this City to death emanated
:ZS i -_J directly from Tokyo. The fragments of this dreadful mosaic fall
:ﬁ; into a macabre pattern of inescapable fate, soon to envelop an
%_’_. Sy entire City and its population who have tolerated the Japanese
o S
. patiently for four years.
B - The relentless logic of events and the cruel duplicity
S of the enemy are reflected in the sequence of guerrilla reports
® from Manila and captured Japanese orders;

L3 . . . L] L] L] L] . . L}

61

Nov. 20 - ",,.Rumors that Nips are planning to make Manila an
open city.

A

|

Dec, 1 - ...laurel is striving to have military installations
removed from Manila for safety of civilians, In an

¥4

g 9
e interview with General Yamashita, Laurel stressed the

N p fact that Manila was indefensible and would only cause
heavy loss of civilian lives,

=]

i Dece 5 = +e.In conference with Aquino, Yamashita admitted the
indefensibility of Manila but when asked why Manila

B was not declared an open city right away, Yamashita
replied that it would reflect on reputation of Nip

N forces; however, plans were being drafted for open
city possibility,

& Dec, 10 = ...Confirms that Yamashita flew to Tokyo.

. Dece 20 - ...Yamashita back in Manila,

- 15 Decs 21 - ...Philippine Government transferred to Baguio. Gen-

o eral Yamashita and President Laurel en route to Baguio

i R City.,
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Jan. 1 - ...Land mines three miles from shore from Pier 7 to
Las Pinas, Rizal. Nips bore holes in walls for snip~
ing in prone position, Evacuations in Luneta for mines,
Entrenchments along Dewey Boulevard of reinforced con-
crete, Military Police in City continue reign of
terror,

Jan, 4 - ...Ayals, Quezon and Jones Bridges closed to traffic.
A1] main bridges across the Pasig River are prepared
by Nips for destruction,

Jan. 1k - ...Barricades are constructed along main thoroughfares
in the City. All street intersections with pillboxes,
fox holes. Defensive preparation of civilian homeSaes"

Tt is easy te read between the lines: The puppet
President makes a futile attempt to save the Capital City. Yama-
shita holds out a vague promise, then departs for Tokyo where he
receives orders to destroy the City, On return, he immediately
transfers his Headquarters and the Laurel Government to Baguio,
to keep the grim truth from the impotent Quisling. From that

date, accelerated defense preparations forecast the doom of the
City.

Operations orders, of that peried, are relentlessly
specific:

Feb. 3 - Manila Defense Force Order No, 43:
"The South, Central and North Force must destroy fac-
tories, warehouses and other installations... The dew
molition of such installations within the city limits
will be carried out secretly, for the time being, so
that such actions will not disturb the tranquility of
the civil population nor be useful by the enemy for
counter-propaganda,.. Special orders will be issued
for the destruction of the water system and electric-
al installations... As large a quantity as possible
of aviation gasoline and bombs will be transported
from the storage areas to suitable places within the
City and to the vieinity of various key points and
will be made use of ,.."

Feb, 8 = "...in case the situation becomes absolutely hopeless,
each unit will continue to fight to the last man, &L
Thereafter the wounded and sick must commit suicide.s.”

Feb., 10 = . ,.Target: Sto Tomas University (where U.S. internees
were still quarteredl) 0830: Commence firing, -Aim-
ing point is the uppermost right stone building or
the Taiwan Transpert Corporation. Range: 3400,
Lieut, Ainouchi went up to be 0., P. First round
burst five miles to left., Aim to the right and fire
two rounds. They hit at the base of the building.
White smoke is seen, Thereafter we fire fifty to
sixty rounds continuouslye."

=
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N—= Feb, 13 - ",.,the city has fallen into hand to hand fighting since
= this morning.., This unit will make preparaticns for
w— an all-out suicide attack, Every man will attack until
? = he achieves a glorious death, Not even cne man must
i = become a priscner.,. wounded will be made to commit
= suicides.."
w-= Feb, 7 = Diary entry: Akatsuki Fore: "150 guerrillas were
i disposed of tonight, I personally stabbed and killed
= 10,
m =
& = Feb, 8 - Guarded over 1,16/ guerrillas which were newly brought
S~ in today.
e =
Tw= Feb, 9 = Burned 1,000 guerrillas to death tonight.
o= Feb, 10 - Guarded approximately 1,000 guerrillas.
-y Feb. 13 - Enemy tanks are lurking in the vicinity of Banzal
= Bridge. Our attack preparation has been completed,
= I am now on guard duty at Guerrilla Internment Camp,
= While I was on duty, approximately 10 guerrillas tried
& to escape., They were stabbed to death, At 1600 all
= guerrillas were burned to death..."
(gl — Feb, 13 - Bn Order, 1200 hrs:
W 1, The 1lst Bn, because of the enemy mortar fire, is
& defending the Pago Station in a bitter fight to the
g last man, The enemy has broken through our key posi=
o tion in the vicinity of the Tobacco Company.
o 2, The reserve strength of the Lth and 5th Cos (in-
cluding reinforcements from the Okada Unit) are dis-
- closed in the vieinity of the Daitoa Road. The men
o are prepared for the enemy attack from the eastern
i front.
=t 3. All road key points east of the Daitoa Road must
- be secured, -
-]
4, If the enemy infiltrates, be careful not to lose
- the opportunity of demolishing and burning buildings.

5, When Filipinos are to be killed, they must be

gathered into one place and disposed of with the con=-
sideration that ammunition and man power must not be
used to excess, Because the disposal of dead bodies

A

|

0

L)
- N is a troublesome task, they should be gathered into
S e houses which are scheduled to be burned or demeclished,
s They should also be thrown into the river,
] Feb, 13 - Kobayashi Group Order:
1, The Americans who have penetrated into Manila have
N about 1,000 Artillery troops, and there arc several
thousand Filipino guerrillas, Even women and children
& have become guerrillas,
w
2, All people on the battle-field with the exception
r of Japancse military personnel, Japanese civilians,
- 2 and Special Construction Units (Ganaps) will be put
o to death, Houses —-- (Order breaks off here.)
N .
The Western mind cannot grasp the realities of this
Ld
-]

awful crime, One must grope into the shadows of History to find

a parallel, Ghengis Khan, the Mongol Horde blazing a trail of

€ e
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utter destruction, This is the same breed -- Ghengis Khan in
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REPOET ON
THE DESTRUCTION OF MANILA
AND

JAPANESE ATROCITIES
February 19L5

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Statement by Father Tomas Tascen, Father Provincial,
Dominican Order, losses suffered by the Spanish Community; a
list of churches destroyed; list of priests and members of
the religious congregations killed,

Statement by Father Cosgrave, Superior, Redemptor-
ists Fathers, in connecticn with the LaSalle College Massacre,

Statements by Fathers Belarmino de Celis, Agustin-
ian, Mariano Montero, Franciscan, Manuel Diez Canseco, Agus-
tinian, and Joaguin Garcia Sanchez, Franciscan, re atrocities
by the Japanese in Fort Santiago and Intramuros,

Statement by Modesto Farolan, Acting Manager of the
Philippine Red Cross, re Japanese atrocity against the Philip-
pine Red Cross.

Report of atrocities at Fort Santiage, Intramuros,
City of Manila, prepared by Headquarters, 129th Infantry.

Extracts from captured enemy documents; a diary
entry recording the death of 1,000 ecivilians by burning; a
battalicn order of instructions for the disposal of civilians
by burning; an order instructing that all people cn the
battlefield, with the exception of Japanese military person-
nel, are to be killed,

Statement by Carolina Coruna re Japanese atrocities
committed by the Japanese in Intramuros.

Report in connection with 49 mutilated bodies found
on the corner of Juan Luna and Mariones Streets, Manila, P.I,

Statement by Dr, Walter K, Frankel in connection
with the massacre of sixteen persons at Pax Court, Pasay,

Manila, P.I.

Statement by Major David V. Binkley re atrocities
comnitted by the Japanese forces within the City of Manila.

Atrocity report in connection with several group
cases of atrocities committed by the Japanese upon civilians
in the Manila area.

Eeport in connection with the murder of five women,
two men and a baby, involving the family of Bartoleme Pons,
a Spaniard,

Report in connection with the murder of Eugene
Andreewitz Kremleff, a Russian citizen,

Medical affidavits in connection with atrocities
on various civilians in the area of Guadalupe, Manila, P.I.
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SWPA-Sig C-45-13155 L Mar 1945 - Ruins and destruction rubble
" of the Legislative Building, (Manila, Luzon, P.I.) Photo taken
~— from the building across the street, Manning the 30 cal. gun
for occasional stray snipers is Pfc Anthony Newsom, Preston-
burg, Ky., (45th Inf. Reg't., Co, K, 37th Div.) Photographer:
T/ Harry Young
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SWPA-Sig C-45-13194 1 Mar 1945 - Damaged building east of
(Port Commerce Building) Area to be used for storage.
(Manila, Luzon, P.I.) Photographer: DiPaola
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PROVI™CIAL" DE DOMINICOS
P.. 0L Bogx 159 ~ Manile, P. T,

LOSSES SUFFERED BY TTE S PANISH CO MUNITY

I. CHURGC™ES, G VENTS, and RELIGIOUS HOUS™S.

More then 90 vercent of the Spanish convents, churches and
religious houses have bsen destroyed by the Japanese, nobtwith-

47

gtanding tl2e being no military ebjsctives at all in these places.

On December 27 and 22, 1941, after Manila had been declered
an open city, the Japeanese bonbed and destroyed the magnificent
Convent and Church of Santo Dominge and 1ts library (11 bombs).
Gn the same days, they alos degtrieoyed all of the cld part of San
Juan de Letran Cellege (9 bombs) and Santa Catalina Collesze. These
buildings all belonged to the Dominican Order, and it 1s estimated
that in thesec alone the Order suffered a logss that is conservative-
ly estimated at P3,356,458 (pre-war prices). Santa Rosa College,
belonging to the Sisters of Charity was also destroyed on these
twe days . )

In the first three weeks of February, 19485, comriencing with
the liberation of the Santo Tomas Camp, the Japanese begen te burn

‘and destroy systematicelly the churches, convents, and charitable

institutions of Inbtramuros, which constitute the most saecred, his-
torie propertles in Intreamuros were burned and destroyed: 1) the
Pontifical University of Santo Tomas of Manila (the greatest Catho-
liec universdty in the Orilent and the cldest under the Amenican Flaiz;
the Alma Mater of Rizal, Quezon, Csmena, and the greater part of

the promlner’ men of the Philippines. 2) the Convent and church of
St. Francls; &) the Convent and Church eof Sk. Michelas, Recollees
Fathers; 4) the Convent and ¢hurch of Lourdes, Cspuchin Fathers;

5) the 5btis Agustin Cenvent: and 6) Santa Isabel College. The fol-
lowing institutions of Spanish foundation were also destroyed: 1)
the Cathedral of Manila; 2) the Archbishop's Palace: 3) San Juan de
Dios Hospital; 4) St. Itnstlust Churech and the rcglsence of the
Jesult Fathers; 5) The Ateneo (in Intramurocs) of the Jesult Fathers:
6) 8t. Paults Woapitals and 7) the Sanbta ¢lara Convent and Chureh,

§t. A, atin Church was not destroyed due to the selidity'ef
its construction - thick stone walls - however, only the actual
church itself stends. The new part of San Juan de Letran Cellege,
of the Dominican fathers, even though considerable damaged by shelll=
ing st1ll stands.

This hawvoc, caused by sheer wantoness and for no good military
reason, hes left the greater part of Intrapures in ruing. The re-
ligious, artistic, and ecultural monuments (the libraries of all
these institutions have been burned) that made of Intramurcs a mini-
ature Rome in the Far Esst have been obliterated.

outside of Intramuros the following Spanish institutions be-
longing to Sisters of Charity, were destroyed: 1) the beautiful
Church of San Marcelino and the adjolning residence of the Paulist
fathers; 2) the Hoapiclo de San Jose; 3) the Looban Asylum; in
Looban there were more than a thousand relfugees, mostly women and
children when the Japanese fired the convent. It has been impossi-
bel to dehermine how many Spanisasrds wers killed. 4) Concordia Col-
lege; In this house there were more than 2,000 refugecs, including
babies, orphansg and foundlings, siclk people and the insane who had
been trengfe red from Lthe Hospiecio de San Jose. On firing the
building, the Japanese cloged the deors, with chaing end surrounded
it with mechine runc ir order bto prevent anyone from loaving the prems
1ses alive, It wag extremely difficult to ldentify the bodles aften
the fire,
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e CONSUTATE, COWMMERCIAL HOUS 'S, AND RESIDE!I'CES .

The Sparish Consvlatc, 622 Colorado St., was destroyed, even
thovgh the Spanish flag was prominently displaycd. MNore than 50
neople, sorie of them Spaniards, were burned alive in the Shslter
cf the Consuiate or killed with bayonets In the garden. ALAnong
vhese bei memberes of the following families: Asuilleya, Berlanga,
and Absadalejo. Tt was possible to ldentify only 15 of the hodies.

The Casino Espanol and library was similarly burned snd de-
gtroyed. The Fouse of the Auxilio Seoecial end Patronate Fscolsar
Tspancl, the Central @iffice end buildinns of “he Tabacalera wero
almost completely destroryed. La Yebena suffered a like fate. Al-

most all the Spenish properties in the disv eft Malste, Ermita,
and Psco we destroyed by fire and shelling. It con be estinated
that Spanish property losses in the elty ol Marnila amount te 90

Jje do nob es veti have comple te data freo.: the wrovincszs, but
the loscsa do ot geem to be @z greadb as Moanila. Yeverthels ss,
on the first of February, 1845, just prior to the dliberation of
lienila, the Japanese dynamited the sugar central el Reall, (Celamba,

ging bo the Dominlcan fathers, Thon on the 24th of the same
nonth afver the occupation of the bown by ths Americsns, they dyna-
mited tile Central Office. This sawme town of (Calamba (native town
of Rizall), was cormplstely burned, ‘nelud ny the Church, and 5,000
men, women ahnd children were killed. Five Dominicang, who after
beins t ied and about o be liiled were niraculously saved, can hear
witness to this: r. Execelse Garcia, Fr. Aniceto Castanen, Fr. Al-
fredo Panizo, Brother Mariano Alda and RBrother Julle Collno.

T PERSOFAL LOSSES OF THE SPANTSH COMMIFE ITY,

In Intramuros the greater pert of the Spanish religious men
were ¢onducted by the milibtary police %o Fort Santiazo, then to the
3G, Asmetin Church, and fimnally te two shelbters In front of the
Cathedral. Théy were penned into these shelters, then hand grenades
were thrown in amongst ther, the entrances then bsinc covered with
Laseline drums and oarth e« literally burying them slive. 0Out of

1% Apustinian fathers only £ have been miraculougly saved. In the
ssme mauner 9 Francisean fathors, the € gapushin fathers, and the

6 Recollect Tathers of Intramuros were killcd, In all there were

54 Spanish fathers killed in Intramures, es the few surviveors cen
tegtify. Those arc:; father lManuel Diaz Candeco, Mather Provineclal
o the A uws-.nlans; Father Pelarriine de (Celisz; Asmstinian; pather
Joequin Garcia, Trenciscen; and 3rothepr Jose 1lla,. lanajabacas, Fran-
¢l don.

Only onc ef the Speanish velirious women, & Sister of Charity
wag llilled, Towever, & number of women, some ofwhon were Spanish,
were conductesd to the Catherral and to the Asustinian Churchwhere
at vthe hands of the Japemess military, some even belnz violated and
a nunber lcilled,

Outside of Intramuros the following were killed: 1) 15 of the
Paulist fathers were agsassinated - including the Wather Vigitator,
Father Tejada, snd the Parish Priest of the San Maerceline Church,
Father TFernandez, 2) 8 Capuchin fethers died in Singalong., Several
Spanisgh families were lkilled in the massacre in La Salle Golls ge, =
the Vazgquez Prada family and memberas of many others,
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In all the hospitals of Manila one {inds Swanish wounded.
It can be trubthfully said that the Spanlsh celony has suffered,
more than any othsr gince the Japanese klamsd the influence that
the Spaniards had on the Filipinos for the non-cooperaticn of
the labter.. The military revenged itself, killed men, women, ard
children, without distinefion. Particular cruscliy was shown to
the relisious of Intramuros, te w ich the fow surviving fathers
are competent witnesses.
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€ After this disaster many families of the Spanish colony l'ind
& themselves in extreme need. They are without homes, money, food
] or the means of procuring these things. They are anxiously awalt-

ing a repatriation ship, and hope that the Spanish government will
los e ne time In sending them relief of §ome nature.

I, GHURCH"S .- COVVENTS, end BELIGIOUS HOUSES:
A. Trn 1941 - Spanigh Institutions
1. Convent and Church of Santo Domingo and Library
2, Ban Juen de Letran College - 0ld Building
3. Santa Catalina Colle ge
4, Santa Rosa College
B. In Feoruary, 1945
e 1) In Intramuros - Spanish Tnstitutions
1., Pontifilcel Tmilverslty of Santo Tomas of Manila
v Gonwent and Chureh off Ste Frbncls
s Convent en? Church of St. Nicholas, Recclliect
Fathers,
« Convent and Church of Lourdes, Canuchin lfathers
v At Agustin Cenvens ¢
. Sante Tsabel Gollege
outside ol Intramuros -~ Scanish Institutions
1, Chureh of San Msrcelineo and adjolning residence,
Fathers .,
2. Hosplelo de San Jose, Sisters of Charity
\ 3. Liooban Agylum Sisters ef Charity
4. Concordia (Oollege, Sisters of Charity
8) Tn Intramuros -~ Institutions of Spanish Foundabion
|« Qathedral of Manila
2, Archbishopt!s Pdlace
3, San Juan de Diog Hospiteal
4, B8t. Ignatius! Chureh and the residence of the
Jesult fathers.
S5« Ateneo, Jesult Pathers.
6, St. Paul's fospital
7. Santa Clara Convent and Church
II. CONSTLATH, COMMERCIAL HOUSES, and RESTLEICHIS.
A, Sp.atsh Consulate, 622 Golorade St.
1, Casino Espanol and Library, Teft Ave. and Ssn Luils
2., Home of the puxilio Soeial, 914 Isaac Peral
Patronato Bsecolar Hspanol, &d7 Perez
B. Cormercial Iouses
1. I.a Tabacalera
2. La Yebana
s Suger Centrel "2l Reall. Galeiba, Lagung
0« Residences
1, Armost all
PERSONAL: LESERS 07 THE SPANISH CQITTUMITE,
Ate " Hoad
ioy e Glwil
s o4 Relizlous
5 RBa. Wounded
1, 300 serlously wounded :
2, Many slightly wounded = elmeosbt all, in fact,
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Manila, March 3rd 1945 /s8/ Fr., Tomas Tascon, 0. P.
Provincial .
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o= HEMORAT DU ¥
= TGLESTASDESTRUIDAS BN LA CAMATLESCL RUTIRADA DX LOS JAPONESES
?““é . (FERRERO, 1945)
= Al M vte de la fiudad:
w-= Teloeslas Parroquiales:
E Iglesla y Gonvento de Tendo
i Tglesia y Convento de Sta. Cruz
z = Jorvento de Guiapo
E~—C zsia iy Convento de Ssmpaloe
e =
g, Iplesias Conventuales y Capilles:
= Iglesia y Convento V.0,T., de Sampaloc
s Capilla de San Rogue (Par, del Fapiritu Santo)
= Infant Jesus Academy (Tondo)
St. Paultas Movltiabe ( ¢ Ma

Seningrio Menor de 8. €
(Dzsmantelado)

e
I

Al Sur de la Giudad:

iz Tolesias Parnoaulales:

Tplesia ¥y Convento de la Catedral (Intramuros)
Iglesia y Convento de San Viconte de Paul
Iglesia Convento de la Ermita

Iglesia Co: vento de lalate

Iglesta Convento de Paco

T=le aia Cenvento de la Doloross (Pasay)

Iplesias Conventuales y Capilllas:

9l S!»%)H:}Tji 1::@z
cieged g

£l

Irlesia de San Nicolas (PP. Recoletos) ¥ su convento

Iglesia de San Francisco ¥ su convento

slesia de Lourdes (PP. Capuchines y su convento)

Telesla de la V.0.7, de San Franeiseco ¥y su Convento
(Tntramuros)

Convento de San Agustin

Iglesla y Cor-vento da San Ignacio

Capilla del Hospital de San Juan de Dios

gapilla del Palacio Arzoblspsl

Capilla Colegio de Sta., Isabel

81

A
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o

Capllls y Hosnital de 2t Paul

™ Caplilla 3 Universidad de Sto. Tomas
Capllia ¥ Coleglc del Atensc de Manilae
Capilla y Colegio de La Asuncion

114

Capllla y Colexzio de La Concordia
Capilla Y pAgilo de Iooban

Capilla ¥y Colegio de Sta. Hscolastcica
Capilla del Hosplicio de San Jose
Capllla de la Immaculada (8. Pancracio)
Capilla ¥ Coleglo de St, Paul
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PRIESTS AND MEMBIRS OF TE RELIGIOUS COVGREGATTONS KILLEDDURING THE
MONTH OF PEBRUARY, 1945

4

A TH ToR WALIED CITY (Iotramurod)

£

weg0z

Agustinisn Pathers;

¥
@

Rev, Gaudonelo Cestrille

Rev. Victor Gonzales, Gen Procurator
Rewv, Benimo Cano

Rev, Iraicisco Alvaredo

g

1:mhmhmhmhmhmhmhmhmhmhmhmhmhmhmhmhmhm

n

pu Rov,. Meloclo Polo

2y Revy. Emetrio Pinedo

Vil Rev, Cerlos Qastrille

& Rev. David Casarss =)

Ioo
Ero, Simeon Del Ceanto

w Bro. Juan Cavans

Bro. Alipio Franco

sl Bro. Manuel Bartclome

<:,_ Bro., Victor Anoba (novice) 3
Bro, Pantaleson (millec (novice) 6 14

Ll

b) Franciscan Fathers:

ver
l

V. Rev. Salvador Redriquez, Provincial
Superior, 61

V. Rev, Justo Villelba, Conventual
Supsrior, 61

Rev. Julio Martin, Gen Procurator, 46

Rev, Dorcteo de la Vega, 45

Rev ., Mariano Perez, 72

Rev, Guillermo Ibeas, 65

Rev. Manuel loral, 45 7

S!.%)NP&%F lil@ [4

bbbttt bbbt d il

9l

Bro. Tomas Tiopez, 71

b Bre., Isaac Cano, 45
Iro. Padro (Tertiary) % 10
; g
¢) Recollect Fathers:
- J - ] )
i V. Pev. Mariano Alegris, Priox
N Rov, Hernan Piurrun
= Rev. Pedro Grespo
o Rev. Ildefonso Vesga 4

¥4

Bro. Juan Machicote
Bro., Angel Pena

L5%)
(6]

Ll
L]

d) Capuchin Fathers:
]
w e 5

V. Rev, Florencla de Lezaun, Supsrior

n Rev. Fellz de Iguzguiza
= Rev. Ladislao de Gusturis 3

114

2ro. Elzeano de Zarasate
Bro, Valentin de Azgueitia
Bro. Ignacio de Vidania 3 6

9z

o) Missionaries of the Sacred Heart;

44

Rey. Cornslio van fussel i 1l

8z

- £) 8t. Vicent de Paul Fathars:

Rev. Geronimd Pamplega 1

e o
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Total ks

&) Sscular Priests:

Rev. Gabriel Salaberria
Rev, Pio Sawail

Total in Intramuros

&) St. Vinegent do Peul Fathers:
at) In San Marcelino
. Rav. Jose Tejeda, Superior
V. Neve. Jose Fernandez, Parish

riest

Rev, Jose Aguirreche
Rev. Adolio Soto
Bev. Tuls Egeda 6

Antolin lMarcosg
faporic Indurad
Velentin Santidrian

Pro. Alejandro farecia 4
bt} In Madeloyong
TReV. Priceiano Gor

Pev, Crispin Go

Rafael Martinez .
Assunvion College:
NZALER 1

a') Ateneo de Menils
Rev, Hicerdo rimentel

Rev. Franciscc Lopez 5
bt} Santo Tomag Cuarp
Rev, pavid Daly 1

e) goligbian Fathers: (Malaste Church)

Rev: Patriclk Kelly, Parish Priest

Rev. John Henaghan

Rev. Jonn I,alor

Rkev. Peter Pallon

Rav. Joseph Monaghan 5
d) Gapuchin Fa . (Sinmelons Chirch)

nev. Raymundo de Lavian

Rev. Pacifico de Viliatuerta

Bev. Santlago de Ibiricu 3

e} Sechlar Pr

e
|7 i

i

L83
Rev, Hrollan Lim (Paco Church)

iR ey 2 MR P R
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in other districts

*

|_l
o

(&3}

26

66



DECLASSIFIED
Authority 795006 S
By Ep NARA Date jo-2(-/ _

i

[4

Movbadl b,

hmhmhmhmhmhmhmhmhmhmhmhmhmhmhmhmhm:mhm

f) De Lz Salle Brother: (reported by Ero. John
Am> ican de La Salle
Brother)

14

£
Bro. Xavier, Supsrior Trish 04
" Bro. J. Leo i 55
Bro, Lucian Czecho=
0w Slovack Sl
P Br ., Janos de la Salle Tungarian 27
. Bro. Marimin nerman 32
il pro. H,ymbert i Tk
& Bro. Arcadius n 32
Ze Bro. Bartwin i 30
i 28

Bro. F. Joghnnes ,
Bro. Lambert " 26
Bro. Romnald H 30
Bro. Wilheln i 30
Bro. Victor y 28
Bro. Gerfried 4 54
Bro. Paul i 40
Bro. Adolf i Bl

ver
1 il

TOTAL OF PRIESTS AND BROTHERS KILLED
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SWPA-Sig C-45-13145 L Mar 1945 Street Scene and
Ruins of the (Franciscan Church in the Walled
City of Manila, Luzon, P.I.) Photographer: T/L
Harry Young
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SWPA-Sig C-45-13137 UL March 1945 - Scene of the
(Agriculture Building) ruins with the (Central
Student Church) in the foreground (Manila, Luzon,
P.I.) Photographer: T/l Harry Young
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1A SALLE COLLEGE MASSACRE
March 6, 19L5

FATHER COSGRAVE
SUPERIOR, REDEMPTORISTS FATHERS.

T went to live in La Salle College at the invitation of Brother
Xavier the Director, when the Japanese had taken possession of my house
and church in Baclaran, While there I acted as Chaplain,

About Christmas time L other families moved into La Salle College
since their houses had been occupied, These were: Vasquez Prada, Judge
Carlos, Dr. Cojuanco, and the family of Dr. Cojuanco's brother-in-law, In
21l there were aboub 70 people living in the southern wing of the colleze,
This number was composed of about 30 women and children, 15 brothers, 1
priest, the growm men of these four families, and about 12 men servants.

On Wednesday, February 7, 1945, the Japanese came and took away Dro-
ther Xavic= and Judge Carlos. They were taken to the Japanese Club, which
was later arned, but further than this we have no knowledze of what hap-
pened to ..iem. The Japansse forbade us to leave the building, even to zo
into the zarden, or to look out of the windows. With the Japanese who came
to take Brother Xavier away was a well-dressed Filipino who seemed to be
showing them the way,

(ne afternoon, towards evening, before the massacre, about 150 Jap-
anese soldiers accompanied by L0 Macapilis rested for about an hour in
front of La Salle College and then went south towards Vito Cruz,

On Monday, February 12, 19&5, just after we had eaten lunch, all of
us being gathered for protection from the shelling at the foobt of the stair-
case in the southern wing, a Japanese officer accompanied by twenty soldiers
enbered and took away two of the house boys. Five minutes later they re-
turned these two boys whom they had badly wounded. Then the officer gave
a comnand and at once the soldiers began bayoneting all of us, men, woumen,
and children, alike., Some of the brothers managed to escape up the stairs,
These were pursued by the soldiers, some being bayoneted at the entrace to
the chapel, others within the chapel itself, If anyone resisted the offic-
er would fire at them with his pistol, or cut at them with his sword, A4s
a result, several, in addition to bayonet wounds, were otherwise badly
wounded, Come of the children were only 2 or 3 years old, a few were even
younger, those were given the same treatment as their elders, When the
Japanese had finished bayoneting us they mulled and dragged the bedies and
threw them in a heap at the foot of the stairs, the dead being thrown upon
the living. Not many were killed outright by the bayoneting, 2 few died
within onc or two hours, the rest slowly bled to death,

The soldiers retired and we heard them later drinking outside, Fre=
quently diring the afternoon they came in to wateh us and laughed and mocked
at the s1 ‘erings of their victims.

e remained there all the afternoon, during which time neny who had
beer wournded had already died. About ten olclock that evening after much
oxertion I was able to extricate myself from the dead bodies that were Lly=
ing on top of me, and to anoint seme who were dying. I was more then edi-
fied to see the patience and the resisnation with wihich these people met
their dealh, some of them actually praying to God to forgzive those who had
put them to death. After this I was able to crawl upstairs to the chapel,
There I saw more dead bodies,

I remained that night behind the high altar of the chapel., In the
morning I was joined by 8 or 10 othexs who were still living, There remained
until Thursday afternoon, February 15, 1945, being unable to leave the build=
ing. Sometimes the Japanese soldiers came in and tried to violate the young
girls who were actually dying.

e
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A On Monday night and the following night I could hear men in the Chap-
~N </ el, and I know that they werc Tagalogs because I could hear speaking and
o could see them moving about, Next morning when I was able to crawl dewn to
w the entrance to the chapel I saw the brother's bags, that they had already

packed, open and could see that therc was much missing from them, as well
as from other places in the room. All my own things, including sacred ves—

14
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i sels, were taken. The La Salle sacred vessels were also stolen,
o During the time between Monday and Friday the building was under shell-
fire, At the same time the Japancse were blasting different parts of the
- house and capecially under the chapel.
n
m 2 2
% On Wednesday evening they set fire to the chapel, but fortunately the
E"" chapel being of concrete only the furniturg of the galleries and the books,
S ctc., that were stored there were burned. The smoke was suffocating and
Ieo caused us great inconvenience. Brother Hubert, who was dying, succeeded in
putting out the fire at the entrence to the chapel.
w .
On Thrusday afternoon, Februarvy 15, about L4230 the Americans captured
— = the Colle s and took the few survivors out. These were: the son of Sena-

tor Aquin . the son of Cojuanco, Lourdes Cojuanco, the 2 Carlos girls, Carlos
Jr. - about 3, Brother Anthony, and 3 or I} servents. I was taken to the
Doctors Olinic in Santa Ana for treatment, later to the Santa Ana Convent,
and finally to Santo Tomas Camp.
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/s/ (Rev.) Francis J, Cosgrave, CSSR,
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Brief: Case 3

Statements by Fathers BELARMINO DE CELIS,
Agustinian, MARTANO MONTERO, Franciscan,
MANUEL DIEZ CANSECO, Agustinian, and JOAQUIN
GARCIA SANCHEZ, Franciscan, in connection
with atrocities committed by the Japanese

in Fort Santiago, Intramuros.

(a) Statement by Father BELARMINO DE CELIS:

On & February 1945, all men in Intra-
muros were taken to Fort Santiago, Span-
iards were separated from Filipinos, and C
the latter, over 1,000, were not heard of
again, with the exception of rumors that
they had been burned alive, Victim entered
shelter with over 80 other people, into
which the Japanese threw grenades, closed
all entrances, and shot everyone attempting
to escape, Victim believes he was the only
one successful in escaping.

(b) Statement of Father MARTANO MONTERO:

The Japanese did not allow anyone to
leave the convent, kept a sentinel at the
door and spies within the convent. On 25
February, upon the approach of U.S. Forces,
the church, convent and all its houses be-
gan to burn, Hand grenades were thrown in-
to the midst of the inmates, Some of the
mothers were wounded and killed by the
shrapnel,

(c) Statement of Father MANUZL DIEZ CANSECO:

On 7 February, the Fathers were assembled
from the convents and placed under guard,
On 8 February, they were taken to Fort San-
tiago, together with about 2,000 Filipinos
(men), Fathers were separated from the
Filipinos and returned to San Agustin; are
uncertain what happened to the Filipinos
but were told that the Japanese had covered
them with gasoline and burned them alive,
On 18 February, Fathers and men in the con-
vent who were Spaniards and some Filipino
mestizos, were taken out, Victim did not
accompany them due to a wound, but was told
that they were taken to Fort Santiago, put
into a shelter and bombs thrown in upon
them, They all died with the exception of
Father BELARMINO, 2 Franciscans, and 3
civilians,

(d4) Statement of Father JOAQUIN GARCTIA SANCHEZ: -

Priests were taken to Fort Santiago,
along with an estimated 3,000 civilians.
Spanish priests and Spaniards were separated
from the Filipinos; the latter were believed
to have been killed, While imprisoned,
Japanese threw hand grenades in upon them.
Victim, along with others, was eventually
returned to San Agustin,
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Merer: 9, 1945
Stogy of evernts in Intramuros during the month of February, 1945.

Father Bela¥mino de Celis,
Apustinien

At the begnning of the ronth of Februasry all the pesople of Intra-
furcs were brougnt together in Sen Agustin, including all the jriests of
Intremuros., The priests werc held in custody in a room on the lower floor
and cuarded., Ve were cbout 42, among us Franciscans, Recollects, Capuchins
end Apustinians, There we were kept unt il February 8th cven though the
others in the convent ware allowed liberty of moverient within the compound.
We wers not allowed to leave our room unless with the guards.

On February 8th all the ren were teken to Fort Santiago, The Spaniards
were seperated from the Filipinos, Ve -have not heard again from the Filipinos,
though we afterwards learned that they were burned alive. The Filipinos were
over a 1,000 in nuwiber. Under the pretext of making an investigation they
took awey all ths belongings of the Spaniards. This investigation was never
mode - £rd as we filed into the prison they stole everything we had - our
papers, our /atches - everybiing.

We were irprisoned there for three days, almost without eating beccuse
the food that came to us from San Agustin - apd it was guite a good deal -
went tc¢ our jeilérs. We were in a very small room. We could not all lie down
at the seme bime, so that not everyone was able to slecp and some had to remain
stending, The floor wes earth, and &s ve Were not allowed to leave the room for
ary reason whatsoever we were forced to make use of fhe floor as a toilet, We
Were bthere three days - Februery 8, 9, gnd 10, On the 10tk in the efterncon we
were 2 returned to Sen Agustin. There were several Filipino fathers but they
hed had to go with the other Filipinos when we Were separated snd we have not
heard from then again.

In San hgustin we were sufficiently well treated, evea though we suffered
many inconveniences - but ‘dn camparison with the past we wers well-treated
- until the 18th of February, ©On this day all the mer were gathered together
in the church. Thers were sone Filipinos among us but they were Japarese
spies. Even when we were in Fort Sentiago the Japanese sent 5 or 6 Filipino
gpies - thet is whet they told us themselves - among us. We tried to hide
our feelings, even though there was always somsbody who on account of his
temperament or of psin could not contain hinself any longer and would break
irnto a tirade against the Japanese. To continue, we were all gathered
togetinsr in t1 2 church, the Japanese official assured the Filipina women
in the convent thet they were taking us only for 2 or 3 days and that
nothing bad wes going to happen to us, and thet they should be calm,

/

We were taken without being allowed to eat sugper to a bodega in front
of Ssnta Clara Convenbt. On arriving there the officer repeated his promise
thet it would only be a matter of 2 or 3 days and that nothing would happen
to us, There we were kept for 2l hours without eating or drinking. On
February 19 bout 8300 or 9:00 &t night an officer and several Japanese soldiers
arrived and - were ordered out into the street to form ranls, but they only
wanted to tuke Spanierds, The officer repeated this seversl times "Only the
Speniards)" We were told thet that building wes not scfz enough and that we
were $0 be token to one that was even safer. We were made to form ranks and
were rarched to General Lune Street. Waen we least expected it/the Japanese
formed = cirele around us ond mors soldiers cere out from Fort Santiagoe to
help thein, We were foreed to enter the shelters in front of' the Cathedral,
on the corner of General Iunan and Aduana.

i I was one of the first to enter into s very large sldter, It was long
\énd very well medd with stoub timbers. We mmet heve besn about 125 in all,
including about 37 priests, and I belisve that in the shelter in whieh I entered
tiere must have been over 80 people, beceuse ou entering I heard the scldisr at

R
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i the door say that at lsast 80 people had to enter that shelter. In the

obher shelter we ars sure that there were 17 people of whom between 8 and 10
were saved, Perhaps there was enother shelter where tlhe others were placed,
but we have had no news of it ‘
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I remained near the door. In about half an hour the Japanese began to
throw hand gremades in through the air-hples. We were all very badly
wounded, We ran to the door in order to go out and a group of soldiers
received ug with a volley, amd what is worese they laughed while they were
doing it., Quite a number of us remained dead at the door., They the Jap=-
ansse covered the entiance with large stones, gasoline barrels full of
earth, and sarth, They covered the entrance as best they could so that we
woere being suffocated, We wers, in reelity, buried alive.

¥

9

After this, at night, decided not to die there by suffocation end to
get out in any menner, I went up to the door ard scratched and dug in the
earth until I was able to open & hold to breathe through., Xn the morning of
tlie 20th a Japunese appeered, he saw the hole I had mede. He fired several
shots through the hole and then coversd it wp again. After awhile I omened it
again, and no more Japanese came by that way. I was lying on top of the
corpses of my companions. Bach bomb that fell near by caused the earth from
the roof of the shelter to eave in a little, so thet we were all covered
sartially with dirté ans stores. The groans of the dying could still be heard,
the dead bodies were already decomposing - there were alrsady worms in them -
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~—§ and a swari, of flies covered everything., I had a companion near we, Mr, Roce-
® = wmora, who wa. the only one I was able to save. I lay there neer the hold
.:——_;—- until the 21 5 &% night, Then I made the hole bigger and spent the night
e outside in the gress., My coupenion was still uneble $o go oub because he was
=, = too stout and I had not been able to make the hold big enough yet. In addition
ol his wourds were worse then mine - even though one side of my body was covered
&i_ = with wounds from a grenade thet had burst et zy side. When day cere the
V""E shelling was very intense, and since I was comvinced that the Americans would
= come in that day I decided to wait for them in the shelter. The whole day
o= pessed, and seeing thet they had not yet comey on the night of the 22nd being
'_f unsble any longer to resist my hunger and thirst I decided to leave the
i = shelter ard to escape. Then I told my companion amd helped to get out, making
"‘"'5: the hole blgger. We left there ot about midnizht, by the lignt of the moon,
;—g The shelling wes very intense, We could no longer stay on our feet,
= and we covered the greater part of the @istance rolling on vhe ground ¢ nd
;,‘-E vesting every little while., We were wounded nore then we had already been

because the street was coversd with barbed wire, stones, and other sharp

objects which cut us. In this manner we arrived at the Bureau of Justice.
There we rested awhile and there I left my companion, because he could go
no further, and went to the Sante Clara Convent to ask the nuns for same-

0%

5'—5 thing to eat or drink., Dragging myself through the rubble I arrived at the

= Convent and fonnd the nuns by the door with bundles of clothing. I asked
B—_E_ them for water or food but they told me they had nothing and that they were

= ready to go to San Lgustin by order of the Japanese, They asked me how 1%
m_-f was possible that the soldier who was on suard hed not seen me and begged

= me to go before he came back so as not %o be killed. I returncd then to the
. = Bureau to advise my compenion that I had not been able to find anything, Aftdr
= resting awhile I to0ld him thet I was going to search the building for something

= to eat, becavse I knew thet there had been a Japanese gerrison stctioned there
3—1: and I thought that perhepe they might heve left something - no matter how

= missrable, ~ did not find food, but I found water in the tank of a toilet -
= the tank was completely full, As I drank I could feel my strengbh coming back
e T don't know how much I drank but it was a great desl, After drinking I did
@ § . not forget my companion, I locked around for somcthing to carry water in end I
e B 7 found & can, I filled it and tock it to him, He tco was able to revive a little,

= end then I brought hin to the place where the water supply was. There we lay
g—-f until the following day, At cbout 5:00 or 6300 of the mornin: of the 23rd of

__.5_ February the firing becare intense - machine-gun bursts and rifle fire - so much so
T that it seemed a very inferno, In our building windows, walls and doors fell in,
- and we were not able to breathe on account of the dust. We learned afterwards
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thet the Armericans were crossing the river then., Since the shelling was so
el intense and we were so near she door I told my companion that I was going to

a safer place., He was no longer able to move, I went to a very safe place.
After two hours the firing ceased completely and there was complete quict,

wanoZT

bbbttt
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» About 9:00 in the morning from where I was lying hidden I heard a voice
) in the passage-way saying "Core on, Come out;" and I knew by the voice and
the manner of speaking thet it was truly an American - and my joy kmew no
0ne bounds, I caz out as well ag I was able, lecaning on the walls - and the
2 Americens picked me up. Then was when I saw three nuns from the Banta
2. Olara Convent that were also giving themselves up to the Americans., I found
é out later that they had not been able to go to Sen Agustin. Their convent
B wes a mass of ruins, from which some had not been able t0 escape. In thea
= ruing some had died, and there were many wounded lying among the rubble,
w i I told them where to find my companion and they brought him out “dn a
- stretcher, I went supparted on both sides by two soldiers., I was trans-

ferred to th: "Port Terminal' which is the next building, and there they gave
me water, cb :o0late, and opened a can of meat. I told them alut the two
shelters but they were not eble to go there sinecc the Japanese were still in
the Cethedral and the battle continued, &nd it was impossible for the soldiers
to take time off. The Americans took me to the other side of the river to an

0

Er
L1l

n—g office wherecriy wounds were treated. The news of what had ahppened to me
® = travelled so fast thaet the General himself ceme to sce me., I do not know who he
o= is becausc at the time I was herdly eble to see, I was transferred from there
- —E to San lazaro, and from there I wes taken to the Sento Tomes Camp Hospital
W= i)y the Dominican fathers who mede the necessary arrangements,
&=
8 E ; I do not believe that anyone elsc was able to seve himself from the
;""E shelter in which I spent 70 hours, because & few days later I returned to the
- spot and found everything just as I had lcft it and there were no signs of
o= anyone else having becn &ble to egscape.
E ‘
S
= Father Belarmino de Celis, Agustinian
== Father Belarmino de ®elis, Agustinian
<
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Mareh 9, 1945

Story of events in the Santa Clara Convent emd in Intramuros during the
month of Februery 1945.

Father Meriano Monterc, Franciscan
Chaplain, Convent of Santa Clara

(Father Monbtero, as he Was still very weal, could not give & detailed
report but refurred us to Father Redro Hierro who ic at present in Sempaloc
sith the Franc.scen sigters, and to Father Barrulo, also a Franciscan. He
regretted thet he could not sign this stetement as he must heve permission
from his superior to sign any docurent whatsoever. )

Those in the convent &nd the Sante Clara sisters were suved by a
Japanese captain who made ths stetement thet we could do them no harm. There-
fore, we were left in the church &as in a senctuary. The servants am civilians
there were living in front of the comvent were taken away, leaving only those
thet were ir the convent with us.

The Jopanese did not allow anyone to leave the comnvent and always kept
a sentinel at the door and spies within the corvent, We remained th us until
the 23rd wher the-e was & battle and the Americens took the "Terminel", The
church, the convent, and all its houses began to burn, Hend grenades and
shrapnel were falling around us. Finally, from our refuge in a hole we saw the
Lmericans and came out signalling them, and there they picked us ups

Some of the mothers were wounded by shrapnel and there were several killed

by the same cause.

Tather Mariano Montero, Franciscan
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? ;: Story of events in the Saint Jgustin Convent end in Intramuros during the

— month of February, 1945.

= Fither Manuel Diez Canseco

" Superiecr, Agustinian Fathers in Philippine
gﬂ‘—g On the th of Februery, 1945, all the fatheis were brought together
z = in the dinir  room of the convent and we were made to abandon all our rooms,
E..,._._E On the follewing day the fathers from the Franciscan convent, the Recoletos
& = convent, and the Capuchin convent were brought in and placed in the dining
2= room with us., We were held there with two guerds at the door, We could not
T e leave the room without their permission,

‘°-§ On Februsry Bth we were all taken to Fart Santiago, ftwo days later we
-d—::—' were returred t0 San Lgustin, The Filipino men were also taken &t the same
— time, there were about 2,000 of these, but we were separated and we are not sure

§ of what happened to thein. We heve been told, however, that the Japanese covered

than with gascline and burned them alive,

wer
L il

On our departure from Fort Santiago we found all of Intramuro.é burned,
our Convent as well. We had to live downgtairs in the Saecristy. During this

picked me wp .nd took me to Letran, and from there in a car to the Mstropolitan
theatre where my wourds were treated. Then I was taken to the hospital in

M=
® = N time there was a continuous bombardment.
- =
W= 2 X : :
- = Then, on the 18th, in the afternocon, all the fathers znd men in the convent
=, B who were spaniards end some filipino mestizos were taeken out, T did not go with
ol = — ther as I was severely wourded in the foot &g the result of a bomb, so they
8 = left me ip San Lgustin with a few others., It is said that these people were taken
n= to Fort Santic o and were there until Monday eftermncon., ©On Monday they were pub
= in shelters necr the Cathedral snd bombs were thrown in on them, They all died
- JE there with the exception of Father Belarmino an fgustinian, two Franciscans and
1 three civilians,
“'E I remeined in the Convent &s I was wounded in the foot, caused by one
= of those grenades which the Japanese were continually throwing from above.
&=
TE.. On the 23rd we were ordered to le:ve San JAgustin and I left leaning on a
o= boy end & we  n until we reached Magallanes street where the Amrican soldiers

A

|

Pandacen where I remeained in a corridor until 10:00 thet night because there
wes no &veilable space. Then I was moved to San Lazaro where I remained for a

0

t‘-_:—_: = night ard a day, t¢nd then I was brought here %o the Santo Tomes Camp.
g—f In the Church of San Agustin and in the cloisters quite & number of

E people died as a cause of the shrapnel. Also, according to what I have heard
M= that quite a large number of people were taken to a hospitel who sald they had
wE been wounded coming from the San Lgustin Church. In addition, when we were all
~—§ together in Fort Santiago some projectiles - either bombs or grensdes were bthrown
&= at us - and their shrapnel wounded several very slightly.
N_= Father Monuel Diez Canseco

_'_E' Father Manuel Diez Canseco
~N_= Sunerior, Lgustinian Fathers in
o= Philippines
:—__f: (It is to be noted uombs and grenades are used interchangeably, )
N ) '
®=
NE =
o=
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Ew—n_-; March 9, 1945
,,._g Story of events in the San Agustin Convent ond in Intramuros during the
= month of February 1945.
= ather Joaguin Garcia Sanchez,
= Freunciscan
po= (38 yrs of =ge, Spenish)
= = ;
2= e We were in our coment at the beginning o ‘the month of February and
¢ = ' gerc cllowed to stay there until the 6th, At 9:100 in the morning of the 6th we
tgw = were taken to the patio of the convent together with all the servants and
- = eivilians that hed taken refuge there, under retext that we were going to
= be registered, 4ll of us went down, the fethers included, and once there e
w-= _were lined up on Solena Street, the men on one gidewalk and the women on the
= opposite once. We must have buen there aboub an hour wien a Japenese came to see
w—d = if we had any fire-arme. There were nones MAfter this happened we remained

0

there, 103100 o'eclock passed, 11:00, &ébe. until 3300 o'clock in the afternoon,
Vie were out on the sidewalk and were enly allowed to meove to another part of
the street whon the sun became too hot, All this time we were given nothing
to eat. At 5:30 we wers ordered to get up and to walk towvards Calle Real,
and we vere taeken to San Agustin where all the civilisn clement was concen-

e
L1l

NT=

@ -—E trated, 411 the patios were full of pesople, women, men, &nd children.

:—‘w E Once there we asked them what they intended to do with us and we were

B = told that we wers going to be concentrated there and that we would be isclated.
= — Then we begged than to nermit us to return to our convent to gather up our

83 ‘E clothes, and they said that we might and that we had half an hour to do SR o
= So we returra=d, gathered up the nost essential things, end with out suitcases

= returned t¢ ‘an Agustin, where we were looked up in a siell room with all the

;_ﬁ rest of the priests. (about 36 in all,)

4.8 On the 6th our irpriosmment begans There we slept together with the
~= _ rest of the fathers, he following merning, the 7vh, at about 8:00 or 9:00
T; in the morning orders were given that all the males should go downstairs -
== without distincition of netionalities. We all went down to the pstio end

= there we iormed renks of four deep esnd saw thet we were being taken to Fort
‘-n-_'f' Santiago. It seened to me that there were about 3000 civilian Filipinos,

even including boys of less than 15 years,

A

Once in Santiago we were made to enter a long room which was divided into
three parts by gratings. On the 7th we were allowed to reimin together, but

0

€€

N-2 about 3:00 or L:00 in the afterncon they separated the spanish prissts and
; the Szaniards from the Filipinos, We were taken to another rocm armd the
g—':' Filipinos were teken out. I believe that the Filipinos were lkilled. Ve were
= there for three deys and during this time they fed us only once and gave us
= so little to drink thet we were dying of thirst,
o=
~§ The. first dey &t night the Japanese threw 4 hand grenades or some sort
P of irojectil , which fell in a room in front of where we wers, tut the
—‘-_:: shrapnel brelk. through the door end hit against the walls, There were some
N= wounded, but only slightly., On sesing this we became convinced that they
= wished to kill us &nd prepared for dsath, The Jepanese told us that it was the
= Americans crossing the river who were firing upon us because we made $00 much
"‘E noise. Thet night we begeed them to take us out of there but they said thab
= they could not because San Agustin was burned. We suffered until the next day and
N= then through & Spaniard who could speak Japanese very well we begged for an
- interview with one of the chiefs, Fianlly one of the chiefs came up end we
M= asked him t- take us out of there &nd return us to San-Agustin and concentrate
= : us thire. je answered "mo" that it could not be and that we would have to
N~ = — remain there.
=
wz
8=
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After the chief had left us an hour must have passed vhen they fired
on us again with another hand grenade, But this om hit The roof and
was not able to penetrete into the roori, The Japanese were throwing these

:

wI00T

-
grenades from the top of the wall that fronts the river, Then we protested
- Bl agein that the Jepanese opened the doors saying that whoever would run out
) would be fired upon by the sentinel.
o On the uhird day they took us out of there. One of the chiefs came
5 up and told us thet we could go out between 12:00 and 2:.0 in the afterncon,
C~ They told us through the interpreter that they were taking up to San Agustin
& and thet we should not appear downcast, we should walk ereet, and that the
e Japanese would feed us, Once outside we went through little boxes of
- dynamite and the Japanese told ug to walk carefully., Once in San hgustin
they told us not to talk awut anybhing that had happened to us and if we did they
w would ta¥e us out agecin. For that reason we seid nothing.
--d-—-— In San Agustin we suffered insult armd injury from them, They robbed us

of everything, taking it away from us at the point of a gun, One day in the
middle of the morning they ordered us out into the street - all the men -
znd obliged us to stend in the ruins of the houses while the American planes
passed overhsad and they fired their anti-aircraft at them, After an hour we
returned to Sen igustin and found thit we had been completely robbed in our

v
1 il

M
& absence, they had even ftaken a good deal of our food., Upon our return they
= i treated us in the some manner as formerly, never leaving us in peaces.
L= IN Nine days after our return from Fort Santiago, Sunday afternoon,
- E22 February 18, we were ordered to go into the church - all the men even the slck
8 ones. . imong 'hese lagt wes myself who had been very sick with dysentery for
v a few days. Cace in the church we were made to form ranks two deep. We were
told that we wiere being taken out to protect us ageinst the Americens and that
& it would only be & guestion of 3 daysi I did not go because I refused on
account of rmy illness. They insisted, but I said "no, no, no, that I wes not
& able to go because I was sick! and finally after they delibverated amongst them=-
~ selves they left me, With me @lso remained the Father Superior of the Agustin-
ians who had been wounded in bthe foot by a grenade, and also some of the
> Spaniards who were very sick with dysentery,
2 We re ined in the Convent unmtil the 22nd greatly molested by the Japanese,

(T e e e e e e e T L L |ml|||1|1|||iuu||11|I|u|||||iIi|n|||uh|ulunI|u||||||I||illu||hulhlnlmllnllhlll

e suffered quite a number of losses because the Japanese would go upstairs

and while the ALmericans were shelling would throw grenades down on us seying
that they proceeded from the American fire. Among wounded ¢nd dead I would say
tle t there were 100 victims. I belicve that 10 or 12 people died on account

A

0

N-= of hung:r and weakness.
ﬁ—f On the morning of the 22nd we saw that they were entrenching themselves
= *in the church, =nd thet in the church windows on the Gereral Luna side they were
,.,__E placing mechine-guns, The civilian element took refuge on the other side of the
hall— church in the convent, We must heve been there ebout an hour when we were told
NE to leave, to take up that which wes most necessary, and to go to Letram. We
&= all went to the church and there first the Japanese would point oubt one exit and
= then they would close it, then another, no - not that one - this one - no - thet
N_= onz - they did not want to let us go., On this an officer came in and coming up
E to us asked us if we wented to go out. We said yes, but that the door was shutb,
i, = that he should open the door for us. They opened the church door that led out
s to General Lune end we filed out through it preceded by somewne carrying a white
- = flag, We went to the left and then turned in on Calle Real, Once we vere in
NTZ Qalle Real, e heard shots and a civilian fell desd, & certain Cigueza who was
8-Z
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a leader fo' the Japanese. On seeing this we took refuge in the ruins ead

§w;;: remained theve about 5 minutes, lihen we saw it was clear we came out end
- = came up with the Americans in the middle of Oalle Real, We begean to grect
i them ord they answered encouraging us to come on, The first thing theat
= they asked me was if I wanted to shave, and since I was too weak to do it my-
M—i self they did it for me, When they found oub vhct I was & priest they took
= fie in a eor to San Beda, cnd from there the Dominican fathers brought me to
mﬂ'—i Santo Tome.s; ‘§Ga--: m;; v
A S
o i Of those that came out of the Church behind me I do not really kmow
E""‘_’E ‘whet happened to them because I did not look bake. I have hsard, however,
c = that meny fell victim to the Japanese fire.
Too—= ‘
o=
=
= Father Jozguin Garcia Sanchez,
= Franciscan.

Fatli:er Joaguin Garcia Sanchez,
Franciscan.
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SWPA-SigC-L45-13170 March 2, 1945

Col. Walsh looks over entrance to cave

where the Japs had a number of priests and
Sisters. When the Americans started bombing,
the Japs threw hand grenades into the caves
k:i.ll:;.ng its occupants, (Walled City, Manila,
& P .Io

Photographer Pvt Hal Winston

SWPA-SigC-li5-13166 March 2, 1945
Remzins of several priests in tombs at
(Aduana & General Luna Streets, Walled
City, Manila, P.I.)

Photographer Pvt Hal Winston
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Manila, Rizal
1ly February 1945

—_— e = e e - - —

I, MODESTO FAROLAW, age hS, Filipino Ci‘bizeﬁ, regular residence at 201
Progress Street, Pasay District, Greater Manila, having been first duly cautioned

. and sworn, depose and say:

T am the Acting Manager of the Philippine Red Cross (formerly Philip-
pine Chapter of the American Red Cross, with headquarters at the corner of General
Tuna and Isa”: Peral Streets, Ermita (South side of the Pasig River, next to the

- University of the Philippine Campus).

I -ssumed office by designation of the Chariman of the Boards, Philippine
Red Cross, Mr. Vicente Madrigal, and by Mr. Jose Paez, regular manager, when the
lattor, as member of the Laurel Cabinet, left with all cabinetmen under Japanese
Army convoy, Mr, Paez, asked Mr, Madrigal and myself to an urgent conference at
5:00 pm on December 22, 19l and told us of his rush departure for Bagulo the
fdlowing nizht and of the need of designating me as acting manager of the Red
Cross. Mr. Madrigal and Mr. Pacz agreed on the matter and I took office the fol-
lowing day, December 23, 194k, Since that day I have been in charge of the or—
ganization.

On Sunday, February b, 1945, Mr, Madrigal heard that the U. S. forces
had taken over Santo Tomas internment camp and the need for relief must be met
by the Red Cross., We had been preparing for this for woeks but only quietly be-
conse of definite warnings by the Jap Army authorities to us never to have any-
hinz to do with the camp or with enemy aliens. As 2 matter of fact, at least
three of our staff have been taken by Jap Military Police for allege violations of
these warnings and until now we don't know where they arca

I camc to this side that day (Feb L) to organize our staff here and to
look over our rew headquarters (Harris Memorial Bldg) and went back toget our
hsadquarters ready for emergency on our side of the river, This done, we began
relief work for then American artillery began to shell our side of the city and
the Japanese had begun burning buildings in the area. While we intended to keep
our building merely as emergency first aid and hospital, our:location made us the
natural and only refugee place for all the people all 2 round us whose homes were
then being burned or destroyed and we became a refugee center from this day one

Fro Sunday, Feb h, to Feb 10, my staff of doctors and nurses worked
continuously ‘lay and night, without letup, hardly without sleep, food,. ete, and
without ever Lleaving the place for since Tuesday the entire neighborhood was
barricaded by the Japanese. Even during fire, anybody ssen in the streets were
shot. On Feb 10, the massacre in the Red Cross, of which the following is the
complete story, came and from that day the Red Cross building was abandoned by
us with death and dying and bed-ridden patients in it:

Saturday, February 10, 19LS, the Philippine Red Cross, formerly Chapter
of the American Red Cross, wrobe the story of service to the people of besicged
south Manila in red blood - blood of its own doctors and nurses, who fell wvie- -
tims of Japanese bullets and bayonets at six o'clock in the evening of that day,
murdered in cold blood with their patients and the many refugees, mostly women
and children given shelter in the Philippine Red Cross as they lost their homes
in Ermita and Paco.

Suddenly Saturday afternoon, a squad of Japanese entered the Red Cross
building and begen to shoot and bayonet everybody they found in the building,
That day we had four cases of major operation and several other bed-ridden pati-
onts, In the late afternoon, Dr. de Venecla, on duty with us as volunteer sur-
zeon since last llonday, was preparing with an attendant tw cases for operatipne
Miss Rosario Andaya, a nurse on volunteer duty, was out at the main corridor
keeping order nmong the large crowd that filled the building to overflodng.

As we heard the noise of rifle fire in every section of the building, Miss Andaya
screamed for mercy to spare the lives of a mother and'ghild beside her. Before
we knew what had happened, a soldier with drawn bayoneb, came into the temporary
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combined office-operating room~werd where I was and all of us, Dr. de Venecia
who had just ralked over to my corner, Misses Loveriza and De Paz, both nurses,
and an atter.nt, ducked inlo our respective corners for safety, First Dr. de
Venecia was shot twice while hevwas seated at his corner. The soldier next

aimed at the refugec—atiendant beside him but missed her but she threw herself
over to where the two nurses had covered theuszlves with mattresses beside my desk
and saw two patients crouching undernepth. One bayonet thrust finished cach one
of thems Another bayonct thrust at the girl that had escaped the first shot aimed
at hear caught Miss de Paz underneath, Looking underneath my desk, the soldier
fired two shots at me but the bullets passed between my feet, scraping the bottom
rim of my rcd cross steel helmet. After me, he shot a young mother with her 10-day
baby, along with her mother, the baby's grandmother, Mrs, Jusn P. Juan, who was
nursinz the twoe That, for all the Japanese knew, finished all of us in the room
without' exception,

More shootings went on arocund the rest of the building, From vhere we were
we could hear victims in their death AEONY, the shrill eries of children and the sobs
of dying mothers and girls, We did not dare move, "When the job was done, to the
apparent satisfaction of the murderers, we hear, the pharmacy being ransacked, then
sone soldiers eating the meager noon meal that had been spread on our table but did
not have any time o cate About ten o'clock we dared to whisper to inguire of each
other who among us about my desk werc hurts, It was then I found that Niss Loveriza
was safe, com letely unhurt, while Miss De Paz had a bayonet thrust and was bleeding.

-

We agreed to try to escape as soon as we found whether we could or note I
de uder to survey the lay of the ground myself. At about two o'clock I began to
crawl cut from beneath my desk 'c.owards the body of Mrs, Juan, so I could hide under-
neath her cot if any Japanese showed up., Then I moved to the next cot and the next
and on to the one nearest the corpidor, On my way I found both dead and alive, the
latter too scared to say that they are alive or to talk to me until I told them who
I was, In the corridor in front of our vharmacy room I heard Miss Andaya moaning
and saying ¢ d-bye to everyone of us whom she addressed by name, one by one, and
urging us to ook after the others and to leave her alone as she was dying soon.

Before I crossed the space above the front stairway leading to the street,

I listerad and lock intently if there was any Japancse sentry. There was one but
fortunately he was beneath the pharmacy window, the sccond to the left of the main.
stairway. I though it was safe enough to cross to the other side of the building
towards the bodega and I crawled quickly. There, down & small steirway leading to
the ladies! toilet room which had been used as shelter by ten Jewish refugees, I
went over several dead bedics, One of those still alive whispered to me that he
t]ﬂoli ght eight of their number had been bayoncted or shot to death, I forced open

he bodega door and after a slight resistance, it was opened from behind by our watch=
man and only regular Red Cross helper during our 8 days of sicge, He was not hurt,
I asked him to lead me to the back door of the bodega and together we forced open the
doore Secing the coast clear, I went out, jumped over the wall to the next lot,
that of Mr. Juan Juan, and on again to the nsxt lot, that of Mrs, Lauritzen., I
rcached the house of Mrs, Lauritzen at 1200 o'cloecl: in the morning, I asked the peo=
there to please wake up Mrs, Lahritzen and soon she came down., I told her my plight
but although she was full of sympathy, she was shaking'with fear and was hesitant as
to what to do with me. She went into conference with her two Jewish employees or
friends, Mr. Marzo  and Mr, Priend, both Russians, andthe former told me, after Mrs.
Lauritzen had left, that I could remain in the room where we were for the night. Af-
ter half an hour, however, Friend came along, took my hand firmly and began leading
me downstairs in the dark telling me to go out and hide in the yard as neither I nor
they in the house would be safe from the Japansse if I were found in the building,
L plﬁadw‘ tote kept in the ceiling or seme other roem, for after all, the building
ig an dimiense one, beinz beth an mbroidery factory and laundry and bodegas, but
Friend would not let me go until he had led me to the door where he left me., For-
tunately, the watchman, Lazaro Estaville, is my own province-mate, being from Batac,
Iloco Norte, Aftér I had explained my difficulty, he calmed me down and promised
to guard me. As I had not taken anybhing yet, he gave me some Japanese biscuits and
he told me " try to sleep while he stood guard beside me.

As dawn came, Estaville led me to the gate leading to Calle Gonzales, a short
creaked stroet empbying at one end into General Luna and the other into San Marcelino,

i
|

As he opened the zate, two girls and a boy were shot by the sentry as they were trying |

to cross to the other side, These I found out were among our refugees whe had had

time to escape. During the day, Sunday, I was uneasy lest the Japanese come to inspecti

Mrs, Lauritzen's and Juan's lots for us, I moved from one corner of the yard to
ShDES
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four cases of dyamite in :* the piles. I erouched and cowered wherever there was
something to hide me. That night the buildings beyond Lauritzen's began to burn
after intense artillery fire from the American batterices and I way my opportunity to
escape from the place., I watched the fire, but before it zot to the house of the
late Mr. Lec  1do Khan, next to Lauritzen's it stopped and my heart sank in despairs
Towards morm. g, the shells worked on both Lauritzen's and Khan's and soon both were
burning fiercely. I left the place and went to hide in the ruins of the house of
Geronimo de los Reyes, on the other side of General Luna, hoping to fimdan exit there,
but all day tiiat part of the city was the object to another intense and unceasing
barrage that wrecked everything in its wake., The Japanese sentries, howsver, closed
every possible means of escape, machine gunning everyone they saw in the open. In
the afternoon I returned tothe lot of Lauritzen wherc there was more space that was
already familiar to me. Besides, I had learned by now that two of ocur nurses, Miss
Loveriza and Wiss De Paz, the latter with a bayonet thrust, could finally escape from
the Red Cross building and in the evening I finally met them in one of the shelters.

Pieccing together all the information we then had, we knew that there mst be
about thirty or some sixbty rcfugees and patients that had been killed, Among those
who were bayoneted but could escape were Corazon Hoble, the film astist, who had come
as a refugee to the Red Cross with Tita Duran, anbdther artist, together with the
family of Juan Juan, a German Jew by the name of Fritz and Corazon Abellers., Un~
doubtedly there are others who wers hurt but unhoard of. The bodies of the victims
are still in the Red Cross building. OCorazon Noble was twice later badly hit by
shell shrapnel, and Tita Duran onec.

i What could be the sxplanation for this beastly murder of innocent vic=
YWins? Nons, t.at I know of, except the following incidents may throw much light
into the case:

Friday morming, a squad of marines came Lo the building and asked us why
we were taking in many people. We explained that the peecple whose housesaround us
were being demolished by fire had no home to go to and we could not refuse them as
the Red Cross building was the only building intaect in the entire neighborhood, The !
fact that only three shells out of hundreds of thousands fired into that part of the
city for an  tire week every minute of the day and night had hit the Red Cross build= |
ing, testifi . to the accuracy of American Fire. Thus it was the only safe place for
refuge. - The soldiers told us not to teke any more people, particularly if they were
not Filipinos or Germans and that nobody should be allowed te go upstairs., Not con-—
tented, they cxamined all the basgage of the refugees but apparently they did not
find anything they did not like and they left. In the afteroon another squad came
and wanted to use the backyard for a place in which to make those infernal mechani- |
cal noises that are undoubtedly intended and do serve to confuse the American artil-
lery about the number of picces they (the Japanesc) had, and also about the accur=
acy of American fire, All around us such devices were being used extensiwely and
systématically and, to the uninitiated, even to me until T had finally observed what
they are and what they were for, they sounded like artillery volleys. To prevent
them from using our place without telling them from using our place without telling
them of my objections, I stayed where the soldiers were. As evening came, they or—
dered me to get out of the yard and to close the doors and windows leading to ite
I obeyed but still kept watching them somehow, That night they did not do anything
except sleep. The following morning they went about the rooms, on my invitation, to
see what was going on - operations everyminute of the day, patients suffering, chil-
dren and women lying down, pasted to the walls during a barrage, etc. They did not
seem to see anything wrong, at least they did not say anything until they saw me
ordering Marceline, our boy, and a volunteer attendant to replace two Red Cross flags
that had just then been blown down, and they told me not to replace them, saying in
broken English, "No good, Americans very bad, no like Red Cross. dJapancse okey,"
They also saw on my desk a temporary cardboard sign I had just finished writing with
the text. "Philippine Red Cross Imergency Hospital - Operations Going On - Refugee
House ~ Women and Children." They told me not to heng it, one soldier throwing it
off my desk at the point of his bayonetb.

When they came back at six in the evening, what had been back of all their’
interest became clear: they did not like the Red Crossj they did not want us there,
hence, the c¢~ld blooded murder, without warning of any kind and without asking my i
explgnations sr as to who was who.
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NS The first Filipino scout of the advance columns of the American forces
= already in Paco cemctery reached the Red Cross area at seven this morning, Feb 13,°
e and warned everybody to clear the arca for street fighting. We began to run and 1t
? = as I did my part calling everybody to lcave, saw two nurses going towards the Red
5 = Cross building, perhaps to sec Miss Andaya for the last tise., I could not reach
= them anymore, amidst the confusion. (This moming, February 1., I learned from one
= of our refugec: who has just come across the river, that Miss Andaya is still alive
w-—= and that she 2.d the two nurscs were in the Red Cross building when the Americans
= . finally occupied the place yesterday). As we began to run, the Japanese came from
= e . B = . . - . T
e the Isaac Peral side and began machine-gunning us indiscriminately. How many per=
= ished in this frosh massacre, I cannot tell, * I hope the surviving nurses have been
a = able to escape.
C~—= . :
§ = T ran to Paco cemetery, asked the American soldiers - still few at that
To—= time —emchanging fire with Japanese, where we could go. They told us to follow
e the telephonc line on the ground rumning through streets and private yards opened
. by them and is led us to Pandacan, There a continuous stream of soldiers kept
= g coming while rcfugees from the other side of the city were running pell-mell towards
ol = this north side of the Pasig.
= The staff of the Philippine Red Cross in our headquarters had been on
o= continuous duby witheunt a minute letup since Sunday, nobody iaving ever gone home
E = to change clothes or to visit their families, Coming to establish our North of the
= Pasig headquarters last Sunday, Feb L, I was barely cble to rcach headquarters to
" organize another staff to come across and take carc of the work on this side.  This
®__ —g W'  gtaff left headquarters Monday morning, ready to render service as per instructicns
N previously issued to them, although developments come much faster than had been oxe.
# = pected. Since then, we had barely slept; nobody has had a decent dinner, merely
== taking snatches on occasions whed our work permitted.
= o :
83..__% Our volunteer nurse, Miss Andaya, wrote the story of our service with her
il blood, She hed the Red Cross spirit to the last, giving her all to the public she
= served, denying herself every comfort and relisf even in her dying hours. The
o= spirit herself of the late Dr. de Venecla was exactly the same. Our only boy and
= regualr aid, breathed his last yesterday after being hit by a shell in the shoulder, .
3= after escaping the slaughter to which we were all subjected. He, toc, died with the
= spirit of service on his lips.
®=
E /8/ YModesto Farolen
0w =
N-; /t/ VODESTOR FAROLEN
? i Sworn to bofore me and subscribed in my presence this lhth Day of Febru—
B A ary 19L5.
e
~ /s/ Howard J. Duven.
N /t/ HOFARD J, DUVEN
Pndt L Tnfe
' 27th CIC Detachment (
E
Witnesseds George B, Spencer
g 1st L. MI
21lith CIC Det. ;
- }
- Rudolph A, Woods, '
- 37th CIC Det.
~
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SWPA-SigC—lLS—lBlJO March 2, 1945

e
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@N é Mrs. Agido Upson-Japs attempted to as-
Y = = sault her and when she refused to submit
- . they bayonetted her through the breasts.
B_E she lives at (Pasig, Rizal and photo was

&= taken at Psychopathic Hospital, Manila,
& = P.1.)

o= Photographer Pvt Hal Winston
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SWPA-SigC-L5-13131 March 2, 1945

Carmen Yulo & Rosario Yulo-They were shot

at close range with others in the group

as they clung in a mass, after leaving

their burning house. The Japs pumped bullets
into the pile of bodies, and being on the
bottom, these two lived, Photo taken in

the (San Lazaro Hospital, Manila, P.I.)
Photographer Pvt Hal Winston
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SWPA-SigC-45-13176 March 2, 1945
Jose Cabanero-He was acting superintendent
% of Postal Savings Bank, (Manila, P.I,) and
was struck twice with a saber. and kicked
in the face while trying to escape from
being machine-gunned. Photo taken in the
(San lazaro Hospital, Manila, P.I.)
Photographer Pvt Hal Winston
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SWPA=-51gC-L5-13175 March 2, 1945

Iourdes Ental-She was taken to the fields
to be assaulted and upon refusing to sub-
mit, hand grenades were thrown at her. One
exploded in front of her face as she was
lying on the ground. Photo taken in the
(San Lazaro Hospital, Manila, P.I.)
Photographer Pvt Hal Winston
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SWPA-SigC-U5-1317L4  March 2, 1945
Pedro Herrera-Living in (Caloocan, Rizal,
{ Menila, P,I.), he was caught running from
: house on fire and machine-gunned by the
Japanese, Photo taken in the (San Lazaro
Hospital, Manila, P.I.)
2 Photographer Pvt Hal Winston
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Brief: Case 5

Report of atrocities at Fort Santiago,
Intramuros, City of Ilnila, as prepared
by Headquarters, 129th Infantry.

On 23 February, 1945, some 50 bodies
were discovered in a 12! by 15! room in
Fort Santiago., The bodies were bullet-
riddled, with hands tied behind backs;
were shrunken, giving the appearance of
malnutrition and near-starvation. Eight
bodies in the same condition were found
in another room.

Another group of approximately 30
bodies was found in a stene building, 15t
by 15'. A civilian survivor stated that
the victims had been killed by the Japan-
ese and placed in the building,

On 2l February, a third group of from
250 to 300 bodies was found in a dungeon.
No wounds were apparent and every indic-
ation pointed to the fact that the victims
had died from starvation.



DECLASSIFIED
Authority 795006
By £ NARA Date jo- 2~ {/

A

i

HEADQUARTERS 1l29th INFANTRY

NS APO 37
\ WS 1 March 1945
=
ia—g REPORT OF ATROCITIES AT
= FORT SANTIAGO, INTRAMUROS, CITY OF MANILA
“‘§ Incriminating evidence of atrocitlies against civiliams in the need-
= ress, cruel and wanton destruction of human life by Japanese military
g“"g personnel was found by seldiers of the 129th Infantry Regiment during an
x = attack at Fort Santliago, in the "Walled City,", Manila, and the area im-
S mediately south of the Fort on 23 and 24 February 1945,
c =
éw_é The evidence of these atroeities, resulting in the death of an es-
- timated 400 persons, was found in three different  nlaces 1n the Fort
= Santiago sector. Death from all appearances had been caused by shooting, .
w= bayoneting or starvation. At least one of the bodies was that of a
— = woman. Majority of the bodies inspected were those of males of from 25

to 45 years of age.

|

First group to be found on 23 February 1945 consisted of some 50
bodies in a room approximately 12 by 15 feet in size. BEyewltness accounts
by the Regimental Commander, Regimental S-2, a Battalion Commander, a

wer
!

;‘E “Yatoon Leader, the squad leader who first entered the building and an
2 = wilisted man of the S-2 section tell of finding these bullet-riddled
== bodiegs with handz tied behind them.
ﬁ;_g The bodies were in rows making a pile two or three feet high. They
- were plled in layers. Inspection by the above officers and men revealed
81'; that the major portion of them had their hands tied behind them., From
wnT= three to six bullet holes, appearing to be a shot group from an automatic
= weapon, could be seen in their backs, .
o =
= The bodiesr were face down, all of them with their heads towards the
. wall opposite e only door opening 1lnto the room, It was the consensus
Nz of opinion that they had been dead four or five days. Bodies were in
= suth a position that a group could have been faced against the wall and
L shot in the baek. Then another group would be brought in to suffer a
§ like fate and falling over the bodles of the first group. Another theory
o= advanced was that they could have been killed elsewhere and then brought

into the building.

¢

The bodies were shrunken, giving evidence of malnutrition and near-
tarvation. They were unquestionably Oriental in origin and witnesses

B'E lieved they were Filipinos and Chinese., Some of their heads were
:-E @V ed .,
E In addition to the large group there was a group of eight bedics in
N another room in the building. Some of these were partially covered with
= rubble but those that could be seen had their hands tied and carried bul-
= let holes in their backs. Three bodies were strewn outside the entrance
T2 of the small room, '
5%; On the sameedate a second group of bodles, numbering approximately
= 30, was found in-a small stone building 15 feet square on the inside,
M= Three bodies laying outside the building, werc noted by American soldiers
= as they advaneed within a few yards of the "west wall," south of Fort
o= Santiago. Soldiers were unable to make minute inspection because they
NTE were forced to withdraw temporarily because of intense heat from nearby
N burning buildings.
® =
= = Upon returning after the fires abated, a platoon sergeant discovered
s three live ecivilians, They were Fillipinos, one able to speak English.
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the other two were in such a weakened physical condition they could bare-
1y talk. The sergeant found the men hiding in holes adjacent to the west
wall of the walled city. .

The platoun sergeant upon discovering the civilians and assuring

himself they were Filipinos asked the one that spoke English if there

were any Japanese in the vieinity. The Filipino replied in the negative
and then polnted out the group of bodies in the stone building that here-

fore had not been seen by the American soldiers. The sergeant viewed
vue bodies briefly but made no detailed inspection.

Information obtained by the sergeant from his questioning of the
'ilipinos consisted of the followling:

The Filipino was one of a group of 58 tubecrcular patients who had
been removed from a hospital and brought to this general area, The women,
had been separated from the men but the eivilian did not know what hap-
pened to them. The men had been moved to the area about two wecks pre-
viously and left without food or water, The Filipino said he had been
cating bugs and drinking his own urine for two wecks,

Whencver one of the civilians asked for water or food he was bayo-
neted by the Japanese and the bodies placed in the building, This was
what happened to the survivor being questioned by the sergeant. He carried
~ bayonét wound in his back, inflieted, he said, when he asked a Japanese
. ddier for water, He did not know why he was not killed. He stated the
pecople werc all Filipinos and had taken refuge from American artillery
fire in numerous holes nearby.

A battalion aid man who acted as one of the litter bearers for the
two weakest civilians had occasion to inspect the wound in the English-
speaking Filipino's back. The aid man said that the wound appearcd to
have been made —vith a sharp objeet, undoubtedly a bayonet. He did not
talk to the wo .ded Filipino.

On the morning of 24 February 1945 the 129th Infantry Regimental
Surgeon, a. officer obtaining information relative to the reported atro-
cities and two photographers inspected the sccne,

: Because of the burned or scared condition of the bodies 1t was dif-
fiecult to determine if they had been subjeccted to bayonet, bullet or shell
fragment wounds, TWounds could be seen in the chest and stomach regions
of some of the bodies, It was difficult to estimate the length of time
the people had been dead. Some appeared to have died more recently than

thers which would tend to bear out the statement of the Filipino that

3 eivilians had been killed at intervals or whenever they asked for
rwod or water,

Rodics in the rear part of the bullding appeared to have been placed
side by side, some face up and some face down. ¥Near the doorway the
bodies were in a state of disorder, being strewn over cach other in a gro-
tesque mass. It appeared the bodies nearer the only doorway had been
thrown inside indiscrimately and hurriedly.

On 24 Februury 1945 after the Fort Santiago sector had been seoured

.a third group of bodies was found, Circumstantial evidence pointing to

the cauge of death indicated possibly a more diabolical, oruel and pre-
meditated atrocity than the others.

. The strong stench of decaying flesh led to the discovery of this
third group of bodies. The Regimental S-2, accompanied by several en-
1% <ted men, sought to determine the source of this stench., Probing
& _und in the . ubble of the dungeoned area of Fort Santiago they came
upon two close . steel doors approximately seven fect high., These double
doors were bolted from the outside by means of an ancient-type one inch
stcel bar that was operated by means of a long steel handle. It had
been further” secured by wrapping lengths of wire so that the bolt could
not be moved.
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Concussion from shelling probably sprung’the two steel doors so it
was with difficulty that the bolt or latch could be opened. It was final-
ly cccomplished ~nd the doors opened. Men opehing the doors said the
steneh struck t n in the face as if it had physical force.

This seenc of atrocity was viewed by the Regimental Commander, Regi-
mental S-2, a Battalion Commander, a Company Commander, photographer and
numerous othor persons. Photographs werc taken and as close an inspection
a- ‘ircumstbances permitted was made. The following are facts determined
by-the inspection and composlte opinions of tThose viewing the scene,

The dungcon consisted of stone walls approximately five feet thick.
In. addition to the double steel doors therc was a window-like opening
approximately five feet wide and thrce fecet high., It was boarded up on
the inside and rocks had been piled on the outside closing off the window
from air or light. Two feet behind the stecel doors was a steel-bar door
also closed, Other steel bars could be-made out in the darkness of the
interior dividing the 15 by 18 foot rcom into compartment. So thick were
the walls and roof the room had nu® been disturt.l on the inside by art-
illery or bombing. One officer who went part way into the room during
policing-up details estimated its sizec as 15 by 80 fect. He stated the
iron bars formed a cage-like cell inside the room.

More than 3C bodies could be counted ncar the entrance, Those near
tr- entrance were piled up and from their positions indicated they had
d. 4 in an instinctive effort to go toward the only exit despite the faet
it was closed. The officer who entered the room egstimated it contained
between 250 and 300 bodies. One body was next to the barred door, another
v g in a semi-sitbting position with the others nearby 1ln disorder. Qther
v.dies eould be distinguished furbther to the rear of the room. One of -the
bodies near the door was that of a woman.

The bodies w=re of Orientals, Head hair on two of the bodies necar
the doorway was ong and similar to that of Filipinos.

. It was impossible to deteect any weurds on the partially decomposed
bodies. There wos every indication that they had died of starvation.

A point of similarity surrounding all of these atrocitics was the ap-
pearance of starvation or acute malnutrition. The caleculated cruelty of
the Japanese military personnel in the Walled City can be illustrated by
this malnutrition for conslderable riece and grain was found by American
troops throughout the buildings previously occupied by the Japanese. Jap-
anese prisoners were in exeellent physical shape and in many cases full
m~gs kits of good food (by Japanese standards) were found on the bodies
. 'dead enemy soldiers, t becomes apparent that an acute lack of food
d.__ not lead to the atrocities but the possibility of a foreseen shortage
of food might have motiveted the mass killings.

In the opinion of a medical officer the pecople inside the dungeon
probably had been dead for seven to 10 days. The starved and dehydrated
condition of the people before death would account for the fact their
bodics were not bloated and swelled when found,

The dungeon s thick ceiling and walls made it bombproof and the in-
side was not disturbed by any American military activity. This fact lends
additional weight to the theory the people were locked in the dungeon and
left to starve.

/s/ T. D. Frederick
J. D, FREDERICK,
Colonel, 129th Infantry
Commanding
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1 March 1945

T
4 ATFIDAVIT

Personally appeared before me the undersigned, authorized by milit-
ary lew to admirnister oaths, one Colonel .J, D. Frederick, 0-12453, Comman-
ding officer, 1&9th Infantry Regiment, who boing duly sworn depoges and
srg g

On 23 February 1945 I personally observed an act of atrocity commit-
tcd by Japenesc military personnel at Fort Santiago, in the "Walled City"
Manila.

The evidence of the atrocity consisted of 40 or 50 bullet-riddled
bodies piled-ir a small room of a large stone building. Hands of the bod-
ies had been t: d together., The bodies were face down with heads toward
the wall oppos_ve the.-only entrance to the room. They werc in two or
thiece layuors and bullet holes could be sec¢n in the backs of the (npermost
layer. Other wounds in some of the corpses could possibly have been in-
flicted with a knife or bayonet.

Some of thc bodies had their heads completely or partially shaved and
others appeared to be naturally bald. They were unguestionably Orientals
and I judge they were Filipinos and Chinese. I believe all were males.

g From the position of the bodies it is possible that the people were
brought into the room, faccd toward the back wall and then shot, their
kradies falling across those of the original group,

In another part of the building there were eight bodies partially
covered with debris.The hands of these bodies were also tied and they ap~
parently suffered the same fate as those in the larger room.

The next day (84 February 1945) I investigated another scene of atro-
city that was committed in a dungeon of HFort Santiago. Discovery of the
atrocity was mad: when a double steel door, that had been bolted and wired
shut from the oulslde, was foreed open. A second door of steel bars was
behind thg double steel door and behind this was a group of bodiss. I
would estimate 30 bodies were near the entrance and their positions indi-
cated they had made a struggle to escape. There were other bodies further
back ia the darkness of the ccll., Apparently they had been placed in the
cell and left to starve. There were both men and women in this group.

The total number of bodies eould not have been ascertalned because
-y were piled several deep. The stench from the bodies was virtually
u 3zarable and .he stage of decomposition precluded detailed investigation.

/s/ 3. D. Frederi:zk,
Colonel, 1l29th Infantry
Commanding.

Subscribed and sworn to before me, this 2d day of March 1945, at Head-
quarters 129th Infantry, APO 3&, c¢/o Postmaster, San Francisco, Calif.

/s/ Curtis R. Craver,
Capty, 128%h TInf.,
Ad jutant
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Personally appeared before me the undersigned, authorized by militafy
law to administer oaths, onc Major Frank J. Middelberg, 0-454898. Head-
quarters 129th Infantry Regiment, who being duly sworn deposes and Saysi

‘As S-2 of the 129th Infantry Regiment I had occasion to investigate
two reports of ntrocities against Filipino and Chinese civilians at Fort
santiago, "wallcl City," Manila, on 23 and 24 February 1945,

The first investigation was of 40 or 50 bodies 1n a small room
(about 12 by 15 feet in slze) of a large stone building. These bodies
were piled on gach other, in some places four deep. All of their feet
pointed to the only doorway into the room. I noted that thelr hands were

tied behind their backs.

Bullet ho” »s could be seen in the back of vhe bodies on the top row

- or layer« It appeared to me that all of the bodies were males and I

judge they weru from 25 to 40 years of age., Eight other bodies were be-
neath some rubble in another larger room of the building. These bodles,
likewise, -ad their hands tied and had been shot in the back. A few

¢ ner bodics were scattered near the doorway of the smaller room.

On 24 February 1945 I was investigating to determine the source of a

strong stench of decaying flesh. In my search I found a double steel

or, boltcd and wired shut. Some enlisted men assisting me but the wire
w4 the bolt-like latch. The two doors were sprung inward slightly, pro-
bably as avresult of artillery fire - but with considerable effort we were
able to slide the bolt and kick open the door, As the doors opened, a
terrific stench seemed to blast from the inslde. Behind the steel doors
were steel bars and behind these were bodies of Orientals. The room was
dark, but I could sce about 30 bodles next to the open door. The first
hody diseernable, I believe, was that of a woman. The others I could sec
appeared to be males.

T could see no evidence of wounds on the bodies. It appeared as if
some of the occupants had been struggling to get free and collapsed
against the bar: of the steel cage.

Due to the thickness of the walls and ceiling the inside of the
dungecon had not been disturbed by artillery or bombing., All indications
yinted %to the fact that the civilians were locked in the cell, the steel

. 9r bolted and left to die of starvation.

/s/ Frank J. Middelberg
FRANK J., MIDDELBERG
Ma jor, 129th Infantry
S5-2

Subscribed and sworn to before me, this 28th day of February
1945 at Hecdque 'ters, 129th Infantry, APO 37, c/o Postmaster, San
Francisco, California,

/s/ Curtis R. Craver
CURTIS R, CRAVER
Capt., 129th Inf.
Add.
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28th February 1945
AFFIDAVIT

Personally appeared before me the undersigned, authorized by military
law to administer oaths, one Major Mark W, Dick, 0-462216, Medical Detaoh-
méns, 129th Infantry Regiment, who being duly sworn deposes and says:

On 24 Febr ary 1945 I observed the bodies of approximately 30 indivi-
duals on the floor of a small 15 foot square building near the west wall,
south of Fort Santiago, "Walled City," Manila,

The bouies had been burned and it was difficult to determins the -
cause of death. I noticed several bodies had wounds in their chests or
backs but whether these were bullet, bayonet or shell fragment wounds T
could not state.

From the conditlon of the bodies I would Judge they had been dead
four or five days. They appeared to be Filipinos or Chinese men. I did
not identify any women. Their ages would vary from 25 to 40 years, .

Bodies in the rcar of the building seemed to have been placed in an
orderly row, however, those nearest the door appeared to have been dumped
there, AT lcast four bodies were strewn around the outside of the build-

ing,

/s/ Mark W. Dick
MARK W, DICK
Major, .129th Inf,,
Regt'l Surgeon

Subseorlbed and sworn to before me, this 28th day of February 1945

Headquarters 129th Iafantry, APO 37, c/o Postmaster San Franclsco, .
Cdlifornia.

/s/ curtis R. Craver
CURTIS R. CRAVER
Capt,, 129th LR
Adj.

AFFIDAVIT

1 March 1945

Personally appeared beforc me the undersigned, authorized by military
law to administer oaths, one Captain Raymond C. Ebert, 0-1283050, Company
© 129th Infantrr Regiment, who being duly sworn deposcs and says:

On 26 February 1945 I entered a dungeon~like room at Fort Santiago,
"Walled City," Manila containing the bodles of Ortentals who apparently
had been locked in by the Japanese and left to die. T was makine a check
on the results ol an attempt to burn the bodies with oil as we cleancd up

the area. 0nly a few of the bodies near the doorway had been burned in
This Birst sffaort.,

Although I 4id not go far inside the room for a close inspeetion, I
¢stimate it was .5 by 20 feet in size.. In addition to about 30 bodies
piled near the d.or, others werescattercd in a similar manner throughout
the room. I estimate the total number of bodies in the room to be be~
tween 260 and 300. One of the bodies near the door was that of a woman,

The room was partitioned into a cell formed by iron bars., It was
almost half the size of the room. Bodics littered the floor there, too,
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'gtarve. The bodies were thin and emaciated and by the positicns it ap-

pearcd they had been inslde the dungeon wheon death ocourred.

/s/ Raymond C. Ebert
RAYMOND C, EBZRT,
Captain, 129th Inf,

Subscribed and sworn to before me, this 2d day of March, 1945, at
Headquarters 3d Battalion, 129th Infantry Regiment, APO 37, ¢/o Post-
master, San Francilsco, California.

/s/ Francis S. Demir
1st Lt., 129th Inf.
Adje., 3d Battallon

AFFIDAVIT
1 March 1945

Personally appearcd before me the undersigned, authorlized by mili-
tary law to adminlster oaths, one FRANK J, Shideler, 0-348424, First
Lizutenant, l&2°th Infantry Regiment, who being duly sworn deposes and

ays ¢

On 24 February 1945, I was sent out on a mission to investivate and
secure phdtogrébhs of atrocities committed by the Japancse in the Fort -
Santiago, "Walled City," sector of Manlla,

The first evidence I saw was a group of bodies - I estimate there
were 40 -~ piled in a 15 foot square stone bullding., The bodies had been
burncd or seared by intense heat from fires in nearby buildings.

Wounds in the bodies could have been made by bullets, bayonets or
shell fragments; however, I could not tell which. As far as I could de=-
termine the bodies were of male Orientals, probably Filipinos. 1In the
rear of the building the corpses appeared to have been placed in a row.
Near the door they were piled several deep in disarray and appeared to
have been thrown into the room. At least a half dozen other bodies were
vbrewn around the outside of the building,

- At ahother place I observed a second atrocity. This had been com-
nitted apparently by locking people inside a dungeon, leaving them to
starve. The enirance to the dungecon oconsisted of a double steel door
that had been bolted and wired from the outside. 4 second door, con-
sisting of steel bars, was immediately behind the first. This was the
only entrance as a three by five foot window had been boarded up and
reinforced with stones.

The dungeon appeared to me to be approximately 15 hy 18 feet in
size and was divided into compartments by lron bars, In the dim light
bodies could be distinguished all over the floor. I counted 25 piled
next to the en:rance. One was laying against the iron bar door and
another was 1r . semi-sitting position. Others were piled several deep.
From the positions of their bodies I believe these people had made a last
instinctive struggle for freedom, It appecared they had died of starvat-

e

Bodles were in bad condition and I would judge death had vecurred
many days previous to the Amerlcan shelling of the Walled City. Shelling
had not disturbed the bodies in the dungeon as its walls and ceiling were

-at least five feet thick.
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/s/ Frank J. Shideler,0-348424
FRANK J, SHIDELER
1lst Lt,, 129th Infantry

: Subsoribed and sworn to before me this 24 day of March 1945, at
hecadquarters 129th Infantry Reglment, APO 37, ¢/o Postmaster, San Fran-
cisco, California.

/s/ Curtis R. Craver
CURTIS R. CRAVER
GCapt., 129th Inf.,
Ad jutant.

AFFIDAVIT
28 February 1945

Pcrsonally appeared before me the undersigned, authorized by mili-
tary law to administer oaths, one Frank E, Pitcek, ASN 36027760, Techni-
cal Sergeant, Company I, 129th Infantry Regiment, who being duly sworn
deposes and says:

About 1400 on 23 February 1945, as my platoon was advancing toward
the "west wall" a short distance south of Fort Santiago, "Walled City",
Manila, I saw the bodiecs of three civilians along a stone fence and near
a small bullding. Shortly thereafter, heat from fires in larger buildings

sarby forced our lines to withdraw temporarily.

At 1830 we returned to a point near the west wall and saw three men
who identified themselves as Filipinos. Two of them were so weak from
lack of food we carricd them by litter to the aid station. They could
not speak Englisch.

The third man could speak English and was in good encugh physical
condition to walk back to the aid station., I asked him if there were any
Japanese about and he replied there were none; however, he told me of a
group of bodies in a nearby building,

We went to the building that had been burned and saw bodies littering
the floor.. .The building was probably 15 feet sguare on the inside and I
judge there we.e 30 bodies on the floor. They appeared to have been
thrown into the building after death because of the piled-up position.

T did not make a close inspection of any of the bodies but could see
some of them were wounded but due to the faet they had been buraed or
scorched I could not state whether or not these were bayonet, bullet or
shell fragment wounds. They were all men that I could identify and I
would judge their ages as from 25 to 40 yecars,

T questioned the Filipino who could speak English and this is what
he told me: He was one of a group of 58 tubercular patients at a hospltal
who were turned out and taken to this general arca wherc they were left
behind without food or water, The men had been separated from the women
and he did not know what had happened to them. '

. He said that he had a little rice two weeks ago and since that time
had been eating bugs and drinking his own urine. The men who had asked
the Japanese Tor food or water were shot or bayonetted and thrown into
the building.

Asking him about a wound in his back, he told me that he had been
bayoneted by a Japanese soldier because he askcd for some water., He did
not know why he had not been killed.
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The Filipino said he and the other two men had been 1iving in holes
near the large west wall for four days. We found them in those holes
when we returned after the fire had died down in the buildings.

B

/s/ Frank BE. Pitcek,
FRANK E, PITCEK,
ASNB36027760
Teah. Sat.y o, T,
129th Infantry

Subseribed and sworn to before me, this 28th day or February 1945,
at Headquarters, Third Battalion, 129th Infantry Regiment, APO 37, e/o
Postmaster, San Franclsco, California,

/8/ Francis S, Demir
FRANCIS S, DEMIR
1st Lts, 129th Inf,
Adj., 3d B,

AFFTIDAVIT
£8 TFebruary 1945

Persénally appeared before me the undersigned, authorized by mili-
tary law to admlinister oaths, one Jacob E, Kleln, ASN 33142283, Hq. Com-
nany, 129th Infantry Regiment, who being duly sworn deposes and says:

On 23 February 1945, I accompanied the Regimental S~2, 129th Infan-
try, on an intelligence mlssion inside Intramuros (Walled Clty),Manila,

IT a stone building in the center of Fort Santiago, we came upon a
room in which I estimate between 40 and 50 decad Orientals (Filipinos and
Chinese) were plled on the floor. The room was approximatsly 15 feet
wide, 12 feet deep and B8 feet high., It had no windows and the only en-
trance was a low door.

The dead, to the best of my knowledge, were all males. They were

~ piled close together and were two and three high, Their hands were tied

and they lay with their heads to the back wall. Many had their heads

shaved high on both sides, some were completely shaved. The bodies,

shriveled and bony, were at least partially clothed. They were blood-

spitgorad and bullet-riddled and some showed signs of having been bayo-
ated,

Judging by the condition of the bodies, I would estimate that the
tize of death vis approximately five days before. (18 February 1945),

/s/ Jacob E, Klein,33142283
JACOB E, KLEIN
S/set, Hq Co, 129th Inf.

Subscribed and sworn to before me, this 28th day of February 1945
at Headquarters 129th Infantry, APO 37, e¢/o Postmaster, San Franeisco,
California,

/s/ curtis R. Craver
CURTIS R, CRAVER
Capts, - L29th Inf,,
/e g 8
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AFFIDAVIT
28 February 19435

'Persondlly appeared before me the undersigned, authorized by mili-
tary law to administer oaths, onc Walter L. White, ASN 37163804, Company
L, 129th Infsntry Regimont, who being duly sworn deposes and says:

As a squad leader in Company L, 129th Infantry, my mission was to
take my men and investigate a stone and eoncrete building during an at-
tack at Fort Santiago, "Walled City," in Manila, I entercd the build-
ing early in the afternoon of 25 February 1945,

The first room I went into was about 15 by 30 feet in size, I saw
cight Filipinos with their hands tied behind them. One had his hands tied
to nis bclt. Several of them I noted had been shot in the back.

Next I entercd a smaller room with walls of conerete. Therc was
only onc entrance, Here I saw 40 or 50 bodies., The bodies werc face
down and made a plle three feet high., The backs of thc bodies I could
sec on thc top layer had approximately a half dozen bullet wounds in them,

/s/ Walter L. White
WALTER L, WHITE, 37163804
gfdet, o T, 129t Tal.

qubseribed and sworn to before me, this 28th day of February, 1945
-t Headquarters 3d Battalion, 129th Infantry, APO 37, ¢/o Postmaster,
wan Franclsco, California,

/s/ Prancis S. Demir
FRANCIS S, DEMIR
1st Lt,, 129th In’.,
Add. . 54 Bl

AFFIDAVIT
28 February 1945

Personally appeared before me the undersigned, authorized by military
law to administer oaths, one Corporal John (nmi) Talt, ASN 35142293, Med~-
ccal Detachment, 129th Infantry Regiment, who being duly sworn deposes

1d says:

About 1930 on 23 February 1945, I was onec of the litter bearers
called to a place in the secctor of Company I, 129th Infantry Regiment,
that was near the west wall and south of Fort Santiago in the "Walled

city", of Manila,

Arriving there, we were told there were threc live Filiplnos, two
of them in such bad physical shape they would have to be removed by litter.
The third Filipino, although apparently not far from the point of starva-
tion, seemecd to be stronger.

I looked at & wound in his back on the right side, and from all ap-
pearances it was made by a sharp objeect., In my opinion it was made by a
bayonet althouzh I did not ask the man and he was cvacuated from the aid
station soon « 'ter,
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/s/ John Tait, ASN 33142293
JOHN TAIT
Cpl., I'»Eedn DGto, lagth Infc

" Subscribed and sworn to before me, this 28th Day of February 1945
at Headquartcrs Third Battalion, 129th Infantry Regiment, APO 37, ¢/o
Postmaster, San Franeisco, California.

/s/ Franeis S. Demir
FRANCIS S, DEMIR
~ lst Lt,, 129th Inf.,
Adj. 3d Bno.

HEADQUARTERS 37th INFANTRY DIVISION
0ffice of the A. C. of S., G=2
APO 37, ofo Postmaster
San Franecisco, Callf,

25 Fcbruary 1945
ATFIDAVIT

I, Major Gilbert B, Ayres, GSC, accompanied by T/4 Steve W. Loska
gind T/5 John Jepson, went into the PHILIPPINE DEPARTMENT BUILDING, Ft.
Santiago, Intramuros, on 24 February 1945, Wec cntered the building
through a small hole in the roof, descended crude stairs which had been
_artially burncd away and proceeded along a short decline. At the bot-
tori of this decline on the right hand side, was a windowless rcom about

. 80 feet square Within this room there were estimated to be about 75

bodles in a bau state of decomposition, piled one on top of the other,
Death had taken place at least onc week previously. There was a powerful
odor of ammonia and considerable hcat was evolved from the decomposition
of the bodics. Decomposition was so severe that 1t was impossible to
determine what race or nationality the victims were or the cause of the
death. The entrance to the room could be casily barricaded so that the
escape would be impossible and it appearcd that the victims had died in
the room and met their death through thirst, suffocation or violence,

I swear that the above facts are truc to my best knowledge and belief.

/s/ Gilbert B, Ayres
GILBERT B. AYRES
Ma jor GSC

Subscribed and sworn before me this, the 26th day of February 1945
at APO 37, San Francisco,.Califernia.
/s/ Paul E. Congdon

Lt Col, JAG
Div JA
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AFFIDAVIT
25 February 1945

I, Major Gilbert B. Ayres, GSC, accompanied by T/4 Steve W. Loska
and T/5 John Jepson, visited a small room in the corner of the wall at
the interseetion of Arzobispo and Santa Clara Strects, in Intramurcs,
on 24 February 1945, Within this room were about fifteen (15) bodies,

parently all male, party decomposcd. On some of the bodies, there
waS evidence of gun shot or shell fragment wounds., There was a con-
siderable quantity of clothing and other personal articles strewn around
the room., In -7dition to the bodies inside of the room, there were twe
bodies wrapped .n blankets outside. The victims were all wearing ocivil-
ian elothes.

I swear that thc above stated facts arc truc to my best knowledge
and belief. j

/s/ Gilbert B. Ayres
GILBERT B, AYRES
Vajor, GSO

Subseribed and sworn before me, this, the 26th day of February
1945 at APO 37, San Franclsco, California.

/S/ Paul E. Congden
Lts Col., JAG
Div JAa
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Report of Atrocities, Fort Santiago, Intramuros
City of Manila

5 &
View taken from doorway of dungeon-cell (reference

_ to report paragraphs 2, 3, L, 5, 6 and 7 on page 3;

and 2 and 3 on page L). MNote cage-like bars inside
the room.

o o

Report of Atrocities, Fort Santiago, Intramuros
City of Manila

Photo taken from side window of building mentioned
in report in Bth paragraph page 1, all of page 2,
and 1lst paragraph on page 3. The view shows approx-
imately the rear one-third of the building. Pre-
sence of a tin can (lower left) and bags of clothes
(in corner near right center and at lower left) sug-
gest the possibility that people had been living

in the building and had been killed on the inside.

lNote canteen at lower right.

-
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CAPTURED DOCUMENTS

Notebook~diary, presumably belonging to a member of AKATSUKI 16709 Force,
covering period 31 July 1944 to 21 February 1945. :
Extracts:

7 February 1945: 150 guerrillas were disposed of tonight. I perscnally
stabbed and killed 10.

t. ‘ebruary 1945: Guarded over 1,164 guerrillas which were newly brought
in today.

9 February 1945: Burned 1,000 guerrillas to death tonight.
10 February 1945: Guarded approximately 1,000 guerrillas.

13 February 1945: Enemy tanks are lurking in the vicinity of BANZATI
Bridge. Our attack preparation has been completed.
I am now on guard duty at Guerrilla Internment Camp.
While I was on duty, approximately 10 guerrillas
tried to escape. They were stabbed to death., At
1600, all guerrillas were burned to death.

NOTE: Above document was captured at Manila, Luzon, by XIV Corps troops,
24 February, 19495,

*DOCUMENTS CAPTURED INTRAMUROS, Manila City (Luzon), 24 February, 1945,

¥ XIV Corps troops.

ITEM 1: Bound mimeographed and handwritten file of Manila Navy Defense
Force and Southwestern Area Fleet Operation Orders, dated 23 December,

1944 to 14 February 1945, classified "Secret™, presumably belonging to

the OKADA Unit. Extracts:

(8 Pebruary): Battalion Order, 1200 hours:

1. The 1lst Bn, because of the enemy mortar fire, is defending the PAGO
Station in a bitéer -fight to the last-man. The enemy has broken through
our key position in the vicinity of the Tobacco Company.

2. The reserve strength of the 4th and 5th Cos (including reinforcements
from the OKADA Unit) are disposed in the vicinity of DAITOA Road. The
men are prepared for the enemy attack from the eastern front.

411 road key points BE of the Daitoa Road must be secured.

45 If the enemy infiltrates, be careful not to lose the opportunity of
demolishing anc burning buildings.

5. When Filipinos are to be killed, they must be gathered into one place
and disposed of with the consideration that ammunition and man power must
not be used to excess. Because the disposal of dead bodies is a trouble-
some task, they should be gathered into houses which are scheduled to be
burned or demolished. They should also be thrown into the River,

ITEM 7: Message Book, owner not stated, contalning operation orders,etec.
Zxtracts: KOBAYASKI GROUP (HEIDAN) Order, 13 February,

1. The Americans who have penetrated into Manila have about 1,000 arty
troops, and there are several thousand Filipino guerrillas. Even women
and children have become gucrrillas.

#—All people on the battle-field, with the exception of Japanese military
personnel, Japapese civilians, and Spoeial Constr Units will be put to
death. Houses ---- {(TN: order breaks off here.)
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HEADQT ARTERS
o7th INFANTRY DIVISIOXF
37th CIC DETACHMENT
APO &7

28 February 1945

MEMORANDUM FOR TEE OFFICER IN CHARGE:

SUBJECT: Japanese Atrocities in the Intramuros and Ermita
Districts of Menila.

1, 0On-22 Febrvary 1945, at the direction of the Command-
ing Officer, 37th CIC Detachment, APO 37, this Azent interviewed
CAROLTIA CORUNA, a patient at Saint Lazaro Hospital, Rlizal Aven-
we, Manila, with reference to reports of Japansse Atrocities
in the Intramuros and E.mita districts of Manila, Luzon.

2, Attached hereto is a four (4) page affadavit signed by
Miss CORUNA on 27 February 1545 which deseribes in some detall
various etrocities perpetrated by personnel of the Japanese In-
perial Forces during the paricd from 5 to 16 Februery 1945, As
will be noted therein, Miss CCRUNA is herself a victim of atro-
city, heving been admitted to St. Lazaro Hospitel on 16 Feb=
rvary 1945, and she lists, by name, certain other Filipine
residents of Manila who were similar victims.

5. It is recommended that the attached affadavit be f op-
warded through Intelliigence channels to the approprlate War
Crimes Section for subsequent evaluation and disposition by

proper authorities.

2370,
Special Agent
57th CIC Detachment

APPRO VED:¢
JAMES E. STILWELL

ALChr S TSI e
Comnanding .
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HEADE ARTERS
37th INFANTRY DIVISION
37th CIC DETACHMEN
APO 37

AFTADAVIT

. I, CAROLINA CORUMNA, & patient at Saint Lazaro Hospital,
Rizal Avenue, Manila, Luzon, having been duly advlised that I am

under no compulsion to make this statement, do nonetheless de-

sire to relate the following facts and hereby swear and affirm
their truth:

My name is CAROLINA® CORUNA and I am 22 years old. I was
born in the town of Malaybalay, Bukldnon Province, lMindanao, and
came to Manila, Tuzon, the April 1939 in order to become a student
nmurse. L registered at St. Paaltg Hospital in Intramuros, Manila,
and began my course of studies. @8t. Paul's Hospital was then opera-
ted by the 'Maryknoll Sisters of the Catholic Missionary Society.

At the time of the outbreak of the war on December 8, 1941,
all student. nurses became automatic graduate nurses and were assigned
to service work. T recall' that at the time the Japancse entered
Manila on January 2, 1942, most of the wounded soldiers hasd already
been evacuated from the city., When the Japanese came to our hosp-
ital(I was then at Unit "D" of Sternberg Hospital, taken over for
wounded soldlers) we had a staff of approximately 8 Filipino doectors
and 7 Fllipino nurses, together wi th about 60 civilian patients.

The Japanese segregated the Filipinos from the American Sisters and
gave orders for thelatter to be Interned. On that particular day,

I recall the Japanese began to mistreat two male orderlies in the
hospital and a Jesult priest by the name of Father Hurley tried to
intercede and go to their help. He was roundly slapped by the Jap=-
anese for his trouble. The Japanese then proceeded to loot the hos-
pital of all tis foodstuffs, medical supplies, bed linens, gowns

and other vital items.,

The foregoing incident was but the beginning of a long seriles
of indignities, cruelties and barbarities heaped upon the Filipino
people by the Japsnese during three long years of their occupation.

I shall not attempt to relate these events in any detall here, In=
stead, I shall confine myself to a description of my own personal
experiences during the last days of the Japanese occupation. Any
impartial person can judge for himself as to the merits of so-celled
"Jepanese cul ture”,

Oon o about February 5th or 6th, 1945, it was rumored about
gt's Paults Hospital (where I had continued to work as & nurse for
the past 3 years) that the American forces had already entered the
outskirts of Manila and that our liberation was close at hand. With-
in the welled-city of Intramuros the la rge Japanese garrison already
had made extensive preparations to defend the city at all costs.
Inesmuch as many Filipino civilians were still living within its
walls, the Japanese laid down explicit instructlions rsgulating their
canduct., I recall, among other things, thsat the Japansse passed
out, paper leaflets which werned the people that if they left their
homes for any reason. they would be shot on sight. Machine gun nests
were set up at almost every street intersection and Japanese soldiers
did not hesitate to use their guns on innocent civilians, many of
whom were forced to leave their homes periodically to seek food and
water for thelr starving families.

e
CQONER T sm AT T A T
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All male civilians from the ages of 15 to 60 were put on
the "Wwanted 1list" since the Japanese accused all males of being
gither muerrillas or Amerlican sympathizers. I recall how the
Japancss wonld go from howe to house zathering men and boys and
then shootlng them dowm cold-bloedily on the public streets, On
at lcest two occasions I was an actual cyewltness at the killing
= of on egtimated 75.to 100 civilians,., These atrocities occcurred at
= the intersection of Victoria and General Sulano Streets, within
= Intranuros. On each occasion, Japanese firin: squads composed of
= about 10 soldiers armed with automatic weapens, lined up the ecivil-

ians and mowed thewm down with point-blank fire, In several instances,

o
ﬁ the women-folk of the intended vietims ran up to the Tiring squads
Qu and pleaded with the soldiers for rercy. I saw these innscent women
o likewise killed in cold blded befdre they even roached the soldiers,
G Many other instances of such reckless killling by guns, bayonets and
Too

borbs took place, but I spesk only of those I ectually witnessed.

During this period, I was living within the walled-city
with a femily named VELEZ who resided at 496 Anda Street. MR. VELEZ,
the father,had previously been teken to Fort Santiago by the Japanese
on charges of being a guerrilla., MRS. VILEZ, her two-months old
BARY, .4 SIST R of Mr. VeleXZ, snd myself, occupied the house. The
Japanese had given strict instructiong that all civilians were to
‘remain in their homes quietly, especially at night.

“ e On or about the night of February 7th or 8th (I'm not sure
g of the exact date), a Japsnese sentry came to our house. Mrs.

lelez's yoarng baby had been crying cmsistently beecauss of hunger.
As closely as I can recall the svents of this horrible night, the
gentry called into the shelter where we were secking cover, -and
asked if there were any male civilians inside. Since I speak a
little Japanese, I came outside and told the sentry there were only
women inside. He told me to return and sec that the beby kept quiet,
I turned r back and headed for the inside of the shelter, T had
only taltert a few steps when this same Japanese sentry owvened fire on
me with his automatic weavon and I fell to the ground, siot in the
legs and paralyzed frorm the hips down. I did not lose consciousness,
howeve: , although I feigned death, Instead T kept my eyes open and
watched t™ls sentry as he entersd the shelter and approached Mr.
Velez who had her young baby in her arns, trying to cover its mouth
go it wouldnlt ery out, The Japanese soldier advanced with his zun
and bayonet {ixed and thrust the blade into the head of the child,
irs. Velez screamed in anyulsh and the soldicr opened fire with his
rifle and kllled her instently. He then turned on Mrs. Velez!
siagter and likewise shot and killed her. Immsdiately thereaflter

NS he left the shelter, walking by me as T lay crumpled on the ground,
= P gtill feigning death.
m'é 1 From that moment on I do not have a very clear recollection
= of the events that followed, esnecially as they relate to time. How=-
N= ever, as well as I can recall the, they are substantially as follows:
I lay for an undetermined per ed on the gra nd until two Fillplne
= men discovered me, picked me up, and undcrtook to cerry me to a
= place of safety. Hardly had they lifted me of the ground when they
o = wers discovered by the Japanese sentries, Immediately, there was
WD a rain of bullets and my two Fllipino compenions fell dead. Somehow
== the bullets missed me and I fely to the ground again, Although it
N= seems hard to believe, T found chat I had full contrel of my arms
= and shoulders and thereupon began to half-crawl and drag myself
= the streeta. I em not sure how long it took me, but it seems
= af ter & period of about three days and nights I found myself
= at the Real Strect gate of Iatramuros which leads oubt into the Rr~
N _=— 4 " v Py 8 2
o= mita Section of Manila nroper, I had covered this distence by seek-
= 4 ing cover Turing the day, moving mostly at night, and feigning death
N= " whenever Jopanese gsoldiers or sentries appsared. T managed to escepe

during the darkness of night through the Feal Street gateway to Er-

(NVE mita .
-
w
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once in Ermita I mensged to resch the home of & DOOTOR
CRIi8TE, who wasg a Vice=Minister at the Malacanan Palace during
Jepancse oceweation and who I felt would give meald and pro-
tection., T Imew some of the escapces and sevacuees staying av his
home, including a MIZS RANCY whowas a Secretary in the Auditor's
office at the Philippine Ceneral Hospital in Manila, Two Fillpino
boys nad errried me nost of the y EHhity olece ‘of refuge. We

L

Thad passed Japanese goldlers and sentries all along the way. They

were Hugy constructing street defenses and setting fire to publie
and orivete residences, BRvacuces from ell adjecent areas werc

packed in birildings and dugouts, seeking proteetion while the battle
and fires raged.

- .the Japenese showed the civilian refugecs ne consideration
or mercy. On the ccntrary, on mary occasicns I saw them deliberestely
throw hand grenades and set fire. to buildings they knew were crowded
with neople. Often ther would herd the people into certain bmild-
ings, tellinz them they would be safe there, Later they would bomb
or fire the buillding. On other sccasions, they would deliberately
machine gur large concentretions. of people.

; Specifically, I can tostify to the circumstm ces surround-
inc the death of Dr. Celeste, previovsly mentioned as my temporary
protector. The facts are these: Shortly bsfore my final rescuc by
American troops, we were gathered in the home of Dr., Celeste, The
Japanese were setting fire to many buildings in this area. Dr.
Celeste felt that his home would be gafe since he had a document
insuring his premises against intrusion or destruction by Japanese
anldiers. The Jajsanese soldiersg finally ceme to ‘he bullding and Dr.
Celeate went outaside to tell them there were only harmless clvilians
inside. Tho Japanese would not listen to him but instead killed
him on the spot, shooting him both bthrough the head and heart., The
Japanese then entered the building and showered the interior with
bullets. Miss Ramon, previovsly mentioned, and a SISTER ol hers
were killed dinstantly. Certain others, unknown to me, escaped in-
jury, including myself, as I was slready lring on the floor.

on che perning of tlie follav in-. day, there weas considerable
borbing and sheliing, end I wag huddled in a dugout with 12 other
people. IMinally, up an adjoining atreet, we heard other Fillpiio
refugees shouting and s ignalling to us to joln them, “ie did so.
e Pound that many of then were wounded fror: machlne gun fire in-
{licted by the Japanese the day before, They told us that patrols
of American soldiers were close by. A fsw mintes later, two American
goldiers appeared along the block and told us to lle still until
they could arran;e bto evacuate us. Shortly therecafter, I was trans-
ported by stretcher, to £t. Lazaro Hospital where I am now under
treatment for my wornds. Fortunately, the dectors have not had to
arputate my lgts. I look forward to the day when I shall heve re=
covered and can resume my worl as a Filipino nuree, serving ny
people snd my coualry.

. /s/ _Carolina Coruna

STENTD and SWORN to before me this 27th day of Hebruary,
1945, at the St. Lezaro Hospital, Rizal Avenue, lMNanlla, Luzon.

/s/ Andrew T, Marsh

/t/ ETDRUW T. MARSH, Ceptainm,
Tnfi.g

Ad jutant, Special Troops
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o= SWPA-SigC-45-13138 28 February 1945
- = Bearing silent witness to Japanese brutal-
w, = ity are these bodies of Filipino women

*= and children piled in carts in courtyard
& = of St. Aupustine Church, Gen Luna Street

G= in the Intramuros section of (Manila, ILuzon,

= P.1.) A member of the lst Cav Div) views
2= the atrocity.
= Photographer T/5 ¥ingsley
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. Feb. 23, 1945: Jap atrocity. Women and
— children killed in the Walled City, Manila
by the Japanese.
Photo by US Army Signal Corps
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Feb. 23, 1945: Jap atrocity. Women and
children killed in the Walled City, lManila
by the Japanese, :

i Photo by US Army Signal Corps
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HEADQUARTERS 145th INFANTRY
APO 37

MANTLA, LUZON
8 Fesruary 1945

SUBJECT: Report of Investigation,
TO : G=2, 37th Infantry Division.

At 2100I 6 Feb, S-2 was informed of an alleged atrocity. A preliminary investi-
gation was conducted by Lt. Hanley, I and R Platoon Leacer at 1100I 7 Feb, who re-
reported the existence of forty-ntme (49) mutilated bodiss on the Southeast corner of
Juan Luna and Mariones Street, Localiresidents reported to Lt. Hanley the burial of

thirty—one {31) additional bodies.

At 18001 7 Feb, further investigation disclosed the following facts: The area
Fast of Juan Luna and South of lariones is an open level tract extending from the

‘National Road to Estero De La Reina, a small stream on the Bast, Scattered at various

points in this area, in the grass, on concrete pavement and in ditches of water, &
number of bodies were observed, totalling aboub forty-eight (48). Approximately one-
third were bodies of babies or young children and about one-third were women. Most

of the bodies were found with hands tied behind their backs, Further details are in

Mediczl Report attached.

The following information concerning the presence of these bodies was supplied
by Mr. S. Santos, 396 Coral; J. Casiano Soliman, 953 Bilbao, and Capt. Barrera, Marking's

Guerrillss (Div) of 736 Folgueras.

he bodins in the field at Juan Luna and Mariones were those of the following
persons:
DONINADAR ANTIONIO and Family
CABRITL ORLENA and Family
MAURQ SALUACTON and Family
FAUSTTNO PAJARDO and Family (EAJARDO - ?)
SERFIN SANTAS
FORTUSO VIRAY and Family
SIMICN DE LA CRUZ
FELIX DE LEAON
DOMINADOR PAPA
ROSITO PAPA
DOMINADOR OSITIES

They were seized by the Japanese on suspicion of guerrills activity or of giving
shelter to guerillas, They were accused by a Japanese spy named Toro., Teken from
their homes and without further investigation or trial, werc clubbed, bayoneted and
shot in the ficld where their bodies were subsequently found. The killings took place

on 4 or 5 Feb,

It was further reported that the Jepanese Garrison had been giving similar treat—
ment to Filipinos, civilians and suspected guerillas, at this place since the latter
part of 1943. Onc informant stated thet more than one thousand Filipinos had been
killed in this marner but the other reported the number at not more than three hundred.
The usual practice was to shot the victims and dispose of their bodies in the Estero
De Ta Reina. There was no indication of the use of military courts.

Although the killings took place inthe Tondo District, the majority of the victims

were reported to have been brought from other parts of the city, especially Villasis and
s killed, was from San Antonio District

Santo Cristo, The entire Fajordo Family which wa
ncar Saragossa Street, Eladio Reyes, another victim, who had a local reputation of

"tough guy" and - grest friend of the poor, was from Perla Street.

The Japanese Garrison stationed at the scene of these actions had occupied the
game area for more than one year. It was known to the Filipinos in the neighborhood
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as Dy Pac. Other places where similar actions against Filipinos were carried out were
reported as follows:

FORT SANTIAGO

MIRPCRT

FAR E STLRN UNIVERSITY

P, Hs Cs

CENTRAL HOTEL

AN BEDA COLLEGE

/s/ Harry R Stevens
1st Lt HARRY R. STEVENS
145th Infantry
Investigating Ofiicer

FOR:

/s/ Wim F Morr
WM. F. MORR
Major, Infantry
5-2

CERTIFICATE

MANILA, LUZON
& February 1945

At about 1800T 7 Feb 1945, I accompanied Lt. Stevens to the vicinity of Juan
Luna-Mariones, Tondo District, Manila. There we found about forty-none (49) bodies.
They were lying about sinegly and in piles, and had evidently been dead for several deys
as they were in a moderately advances state of decomposition and were infected with
maggots, The bodies were of both women and many of them were children ranging from
two or three yesrs old upward. On all bodies lying so that the wrists were visible,
the wrists had been tied tightly together behind their backs. The hands were bound with -

. rope or fiber. Several wounds were visible on the bodivs, Many had wounds of the

abdomen througk “ich the intestines were protruding, One wound was noticed on the
thigh of one of the bodies which eppeared to be ~ stab wounds. On several of the bodies
there was a deep wound on the back of the neck, and one body was wounded by a deep slash

across the throat.

/s/ Hobert D, Mason
HOBERT O. MASON
Capt, Medical Corps

Commanding
Co A", 112 Med bn

Sworn to before me and subscribed in my presence this thirteenth day of
February in the year nineteen hundred and forty-five.

/s/ John W Cohan
* JOHN W. COHAN
Major, A.G.D.
'Asst. Adjubant General

14 February 1945

Lesr the lumberysrd at the junction of Juan Luna and Mariones Streets, on 7 F§b,
I saw the hodies of forty-none (49) men, women, snd children that had been killed in
cold blood, Some had their hands tied behind their backs. Filipinos living in the
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/s/ George E Dann
GEORGE E. DANN
PFC, Hg Co
145th Infantry
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Signed z nd sworn before me this Fourtcenth day of Februery 1945:

w
/s/ hmel L. Cox

o AEL L. COX
n Capt, Infantry
5 Actg Adjutant
C~
o
c
@

Ieo

w

wan

= 14 February 1945

v FE P IDAY IT

e
11l

Capt, Infantry
Letg Adjutant

F
@i
w= On the morning of 7 Feb 1945, at the Southeast corner of Juan Luna and Mariones
o Streets, I counted forty-nine (1.;95 bodies of men, women, snd children. Approximately
Séﬁ:_g one-third were b ies of children, and about one-third women, It appesred thet whole
& = fam los hed beer illed. The bodies of the adults had their hands tied behind their
t backs with rope.
wT=
= /s/ Claude R, Higdon, Jr
o= CLAUDE R. HIGDON, JR
= PFC, Hg Go
:_g 145vh Infantry
_= ‘Signed and sworn before me this Fourteenth day of February 1945:
==
= /s/ Amel L, Cox
o= MMEL L, COX

4

0

nE >
NZ
o -
mé 14 February 1945
N =
*Z AEEIDAVIET
8=
= The morning of 7 Feb, one (1) officer, one (1) enlisted man, and mysclf counted
Yot = forty-nine (L49) bodies in the field on the Southeast corner of Juan Luna and Mariones
“'g Streets. These were the out and mangled bodies of men, women, and children, They were
e scattered throug the area, lying singly and in piles. It was evident that they had
N been killed seve ol days ago, as they were infested with maggots and they were in an
= early state of decomposition.,
85 B
~_= ot /s/ Paul G, Smith
o8 PAUL G. SMITH

Sergeant, Hq Co
145th Infantry
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Signed and sworn before me this Fourteenth day of February 1945:
~N /s/ hmel L, Cox
AEL L, COX
w Capt, Infantry

Actg Adjutant
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14 February 1945
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T CERIIEICATLE
b At 1100I, 7 Feb 1945, I made a preliminary investigation of a reported atrocity
I committed at the Southeast corner of Juan Luna and Mariones Streets, Tondo District,

Manila. There I counted forty-nine (49) bodies of men, women, and children, all badly
mutiliated. On the adult bodies, the hands were tied behind their backs. The adult
bodies were clothed in civilian dress. Local informants stated that the victims had
been shot, bayoneted, and clubbed to death; also, that thirty-one (31) additional bodies
had been buricd. The bodies had apparently been desd about three (3) days.

e
11l

5= |
® = L /s/ John C, Hanley
o= JOHN C. H/NLEY
- = 2nd Lt, Infantry
= I and R Pltn Leader
2=
& =
= Sworn to b ‘ore me and subscribed in my presence this sixteenth day af Wbruary
= in the year nincteen hundred and forty-five,
af
L /s/ Jonn W. Cohan
e JOHN W. COHAN
= Major, A.G.D.
== Asst. 4#djutent General
2

4

0

13 February 1945

N_E "
o =S AFPFIDAVIT
L R N o g e o B R - b S e g A
- I, Demas L, Sears, being duly sworn, on my oath say
L

= L am a Lieutenant Colonel, GSC, A.C. of S., G-2, 37th Infantry Division. This
= date, 13 February 1945, I visited the intersection of Isaac Peral Street and Marque

= de Comillns Street in the city of Manila, which is now in the sector of lst Bn, 129th
8= Infantry. I was accompanied by a guide from Regimentel Headquarters, the lledical

= Officer of lst Bn, 129th Inf, Sgt Gustave Olsen, G-2 Sect, T/4 Steve W. Leska, G-2
N = Section, and Major Fite, commanding officer of 1st Bn, 129th Inf. i
o =

—E At the northeast corner of the intersection we found a group of bodies, apparently
= Chinese. There were cleven adult males 2nd one male child about 18 months of age.

= At the northwest corner of the intersection abt a filling station we found the bodies of
8= four women, 211 :oparently Chinese, One middle aged woman had her hands tied behind

= wer back, as di. three of the men in the first group. With them were the bodies of six
o= _.abies, five male and one fema'l® , ages six months to two years; also, another boy
wr= about twelve years of age., All of the above mentioned bodies were photographed by /4

Leska. Beyond the filling station about twenty-five yards to the west, I observed
bodies of two women and two small bahies.
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The wounds of five of these bodies could be observed without detailed examination
and I saw that two of the small babies had been bayonetted—-one through the head and
one through the abdomen, I observed a wound on the hip of another small child, a women
who had bcen stabbed through the chest, and two men who were stabbed about the body,

No detailed examinstion of the decomposing bodies was made to determireprecisely
the manner in which each individual had met his desth, although all had apparently been
beyonetted, :

/s/ Demas L, Séars
DEMAL L. SELRS
Lt. Colonel, GSC
B: €, of S.; Ga2

Sworn to before me and subscribed in my presence this sixteenth day of Februsry in
the year nineteen hundred and forty-five,

/s/ Paul E. Congdon
PALU E. CONGDON
Lt. Colonel, JAGO
Staff Judge idvocate

14 February 1945

IR L0 T

I, Sgt Gustave Olsen, Draftsman, G-2 Section, do hereby swear that I have ex—
amined the affidavit of Lt Col Sears hereto attached and I am personally familisr with
the material set forth therein, except that I did not personally see the bodies of the
two women and the two babies twenty-five yards west of the filling station., In all
other respects, I know from my personal obscrvation thet the matters set forth in the
affidavit of It Col Sears are true and correct. '

/s/ Gustave Olsen
GUSTAVE OLSEN
Sergeant, Infantry
G~2 Draftsman

Sworn to before me and subseribed in my presence this sixteenth day of February

—4n the year nineteen hundred and forty-five,

: /s/ John W, Cohan
JOHN W. COHAN
Major, A.GeD,
Asst, 4djutant General

U February 1945

AR R T DAW CET

I, T/ Steve W, “eska, Photographer, G-2 Sect, do hereby swear that I have examined
the affidevit of Lt Col Sears hereto attached and I am personally famili»r with he .
material set forth therein, except thot I did not personally see the bodies of the two
women ond the two babies twenty-five yards west of the filling station. In all other
spects, I know from my personal observation that the matters set forth in the affidavit

of Lt, Col. Sears are true and correct.

/s/ Steve W, Loska
STEVE W. LOSKA
“T/k, Infantry
G-2 Photographer
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CONFIDENT IAL

AFFIDAVIT
ZPax Court, 176 Belagtes
Pagay

The undersigned, Dr. Walter X, Frenkel, having been first duly
cautioned and sworn, deposes and says:

The murder of 16 people happened londsy Februery 12, 1945, in
the afternoon around 4il5 to 430, ¥he place has been Pax Court,
176 P .agtas, Pasay. My report ig based on my own terrible experience,
toget .r with 19 persons. Only my sister, a chemist, and I escaped.
My name is Dr, Welter K, Frankel, 55 yeers cld, living in lanila
since Februery 20, 1939. I am a surgeon, urologist, and lecturer of
iiistory of ledicine in the College of Medicine, University of the
Philippines,

On Monday, Februery 12, <round Lil5 p.i., my wife, sister,
Ilirs, Llice Stahl, merried to an Americen who is in the Los Banos
Camp, and I were sitting at our coffee table when a Japanese sergeant
knocked at the door, I showed him my paper, a passg &t one side in
Bnglish end in the other side in Jepanese. He said, "Judasi®, and
brought me out of the houss, leading my wife and sister also. I
saw that the Japanese brought the people out of the other houses,
The Court consists of four double houses, one side 165-4,B,C, and
D, and ‘he other side 176-4,B,0, and D, Belagtss 8., Pasay, All
the pecple were driven out together by nearly fourteen or sixbteen
Nevy personnel, three of them bsing officers, dome with guns, some
with spsars, some very young. Without saying & word, our hands were
bound behind our backs. There were =ix Buropeans, my wife, Gisela
Frankel, myself, Dr. Frankel, my sister Alice Stahl, Dr. H. 4, Luerse,

~his wiil i, Gertrude Luerse, the dsughter, Jutta, 8 years, and thirteen

Fili dirus, namely: Justice Villareal, our landlord, his wife, s,
Villapeal, tmo little nioces, Pacite, 7 years, leris, 8 yeasrs, the
house=-girl of Dr, Lusrse, Valeriaj the others being servants of the
other houses, three women with five children. - We were driven in the
sala of Dr. Luerse's house, 165-B. The moment we were bound it
became clear to me that they would rurder us. So, without fears or
movement, my wife and I kissed each other farewell, As we entered
the house, we had to kneel down with face to the wall, Because of

a bre' n leg I could not kneel down in this way., I was lying on my
left .de so I could be &ble to see what the Japansse were doing.

In a helf circle at a distance of two meters they put furniture
around ug, heaped cuchions, pillows, strawbess on them and poured
gegoline over this from botbtles. Twe of thewm did that and the third
one, a sergeant who wes smoking a ciger, observed their work, The
two officers did not enter the sala. 0Oalling down two men from the
first floor, they, probably in unison, set the plecc in flames and
then the sergeont took fiom his right breast pocket & small hand
grenade end threw it, not directly in the heap of psople, bui more
to the right side, ALbparently it was the intention to burn us alive.
Only Justice Villarezl was killed by thc grenade immediately. At
thie moment Mrs, Villareal jumped up crying but she was shot through
the heed, falling down dead, The aforementionsd thrse Japanese
soldiers were gtanding et the entrance to the room with guns in their
hands, At this moment, my wife, lying on her left breast and on the
back of my sister, cems up nearer with her head and was immediately
shot through the neck, dying immedistely. Her blood flowed over me
in streems, on my left side, over my shirt, trousers and shoes. I
shall keep it forever in that condition, The next person shot dead,
because she moved, was Mrs. luerse. After some cornyulsions, she made
no moveient anymors; her husband, lying &t my right, asked me, "Is
my wife dead?", and as I confirmed it, he seid, "Thank CGod,!"
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I was thankful in my heart thet my beloved wife was spared from
being burned alive, At this moment & Filipina housegirl locsened my
bindir s, freeing my hands, I helped her and told her to run
upsta: i, She ceme down with another girl she had managed to grasp,
erying because the whole first floor was in flames, A1l around us
smoke became unbearable. I told my sister that we had better jump
outside through the flamss, that it was better to be shot outside than
burned alive. I helped her up, and together with Dr. Luerse and his
little daughter, we jumped through the flames, expecting 1o be shot
outside. As the smoke and heat in the gala became unbearable, the
three Japenese soldiers left the room. By now the whole court was
full of thick smoke. We could not be seen, S0 we ran Lo the garags
immedictely bsside the house, where the smoke wes much less., I ran
into the kitchen, took a knife and cut the bindings of my three
companions, Then we decided to go to the garden of the big house of
our landlord, the heed Justice, The house and garden are directly
before our court et & distence of fifty to sixty meters, connected
with 2 small backdoor, We were lucky enough to have arrived unseen
there and to hide in an &ir raid shelter. My first vords as we came
out of the flemes were, "My future life ic only for vengeance &t these
Jopanese murderers; if there would be somc Japanese prisoners in the
Rizel Memorial Stadium I would find our murderers out with absolute
certainty."

I (ome out only with a smell wound, also the little child, my
sigter, and Dr. Luerse had burns of second degree in the fece, grms,
legs, and feet, Suddenly at 3:00 a.m. that night, little Jutta becanme
restless and died o few minutes later, I think by the effect of the
smoke and heart weeckness. I threw her into & hole in the garden of
the big house and we moved to the servent's cuarters behind the garage
of the big house, hiding there ti1l 4:30 in the afterncon of February
13th, when an fmerican patrol ceme in and we were saved, They told
us to ~o across the field to the smbulence about & kilometer behind.
Dr. I rse declared he was not able to walk becsuse of his burned
legs und general weakness., The soldiers said they could send over a
stretcher and so my sister and I walked unmolested to the ambulance,
The Captain over there (Ceptain Jennings?) gave me the stretcher and
2 Filipinos, We were then going back together with another patrol of
20 men, but as we came to a distance of two-hundred meters, where we
left Dr. ILuerce, we were fired upon by Japanese snipers. =0 I went
baek, but I had to take shelter in an undestroyed house of Mr, Toda
in Ieveriza St. for half an hour., As I caie back to the place of
the ambulence, I found it was gone., They told me that my sister was
taken by the Captain to a hospital, Soldiers took me iith them to
Mondaluyong., I was brought across the river on an amphibizn tank to
find the evacuction camp nearby. 4s I asked the first Filipino I
met for the place of the cemp he took me over to the Guerrilla head-
quarters in Mandeluyong, where they kept me in custody under the
suspicion of being & German spy, for I am & Germen Jew, hfter a
former student had identified me as a professor of the University,
they became polite and brought me to the Red Cross headguarters, Two
days later I found my sister in the Quezon Institute, Ward 6, where
she is confined for treatment of her infected burns.

This is @ true and much abbreviated report of events which took
place at the Pax Court, 176 Belagtas, Pasay, on Monday, February 12,
1945 in the afternoon and which I have witncssed with my own eyes and
absclute clear conscience. Afterward I realized that the terrible
cries we heard two hours ago from the neighboring housés of Mr.
Perez-Rubio and Mr, Sy were signs of the scme events in those burning
housesa. I believed that the fifteen people from our Court who fled
for shelter in the neighboring big house of Mr. Sy were murdered in
the s:we way. I think this group consisted of two persons of the
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i Statement by Major DAVID V. BINKLEY in con-
= nection with atrocities committed by the
- Japanese forces within the City of Manila
= during February, 1945,
- The affiant personally observed the

following evidences of Japanese atrocities:,
1) On 7 February, the bodies of 12l men,

ver
i

starvation and possible suffocaticn,

6) - At Plaza McKinley, the bodies of 40
priests, with hands tied behind their
backs and with bayonet wounds, were dis-

o i women and children were found in the srea
® = of the railread statiua; victims had been
W= shot and bayonetted by the Japanese on the
% = suspieion of guerrilla activities.,

2= 2) 0On 15 February, 59 bodies of men,

o) = women and children were discovered in the
i S vicinity of the Tabacalera, all the women
s having been bayonetted, :

= 3) On 13 February, the bodies of 76 men,
o= women and children were discoversd in the

= De LaSalle College, having bsen burned,
== shot, and bayonetted,

= L) At Concordia College, 100 men, women
. and children were found burned to de-th,
®7= 5) In Fort Santiago, approximat.ly 400

£ Filipinos were discoversd in 3 duugeons,
o= the appearance of the bodies sugg:sting

A

N_=
= covered,
= 7) At the Campos Residence on Taft Ave,,
B= L5 bodies of women, many of whom had been
= assaulted, and several children, were
~N_= found, death apparently having reaulted
W=
= from bayonet wounds,
N_=
= E
M _= ;
W
N =
*°=
=
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o =
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DIVISION SURGEON!S OFETCE
AP.0, 37, ¢/o Postmaster
San Francisco, California

g March 1945

P S S B RV R S

T, David V. Binkley, Maior, SnC, being duly sworn, on ny
3

L
oath gay

The fellowing named instances of atrocities committed by the
anese fereces within the city of Manila were seen by the under-
ned shortly after their having been commltted by the Japanese
diers during the battle for Manila, Philippine Islands.

On 7 February, 1945, the bodies of one hundred and rifteen
men, women and children were found on the froaonds of the Dy-Pac
Tumber Conipany near the rail-rosd gtation.

lMany of the men and women and some of the older children had
their har tied behind their baeck, Many bodles of men and women
were scatliered over the ground on the gracs and in weeds and along
paths. licarby where an enermy built revetment was located, a ditch
from which esar th had been taken in constructing the revetment had
fillec. with ground water. On the south side of this ditch and
about two feet from the water level was a concrete covered storage
yard, At the edge of the concrete above the water the concrete
was covered with human blood which in some places had trickled small
streams to a lower level., The Japenese nhad shot and bayonetted some
elghty-five men, women end children on vhis spot and thelr bodles
were then pushed into the ditch. Many adults were tied as were
some of the older children while very swiall children had been killed
without having bsen tied. Some of the women were pregnant, The
ages of the children were from two years to ten years, approximately’.
Upon interrogating civilians in the vieinity, 1t was learned that
the Japanese had murdered the entire families of men under sus-
»icion of being guerrdllasg

Not far from the Dy-Pac Lumber Company &nd in the water beslide
the Alr Port Japanesc lilitary Prison, nine men, members of tie
Philippine Constabulery were found tied hand and foot, All nine
men had becn either shot or bayonctted to dsath., This scene was
discovered on 7 February 1945, also.

on 15 February 1945 while locating Jepanese hodies in the
vieinity of the old Javanese prison forty bodies of civilians, rien,
women and children were discovered upon the concrete paving at the
rear of the Tabacalera Shell Service Station. Tifty fezt weat of
the service station eight women, all w th their hands tied behind
them, lay upon the grass among some benana trees. Bight feot away
a mother nd two children lay. The woman lay face down with an arm
around e:ch child, This woman had be=n slashed to death by a saber
1like weapon having a deep cut at the base of the neck and also on
the upper right arm, One child had part of its skull "sliced" off,
apparcntly by the same type of weapon, All the other women had
been bhayonetted to death.

On 13 February 1945 at the De La Salle College, the bdodies
of seventy-six (76) men, women and children of various ages werc
found scattered at the zouth side of the home for Catholic Brothers.
Jome of the woren were pregnant, On the body ol one woman the

A
G OIS VTR T



DECLASSIFIED

Authority 795006

By K-V NARA Date ol

z

£

IHSNr INSIY3S
L 9 S

Ll

ver

a1 P @y

8l LI 91

61

A

L.

=
=

ot lnahnl

[ AN Y 4 I

£z

it 92
ahdntiihinin

8z

6T

[43

13

|I!II'|I|Il|I|IIlI1IIlIIII|IH'E

=

y

i

1=

I DENTEAL

I

breasts had been cut off. All of the bodles found were pierced

by several bgyonet wounds, Later, at the Price residence on Cal~
ifornia Strest at Colorado, forty-five (45) men, women, and chil-
dren hed talten sholter from artillery fire within the wall-enclosed
yard cnly to hrve the Jpmese soldiers enter the yard at approxl-
mabely 1500 hours of the day this atrocity was cormitted and with
rifle fire kill every living person., The Japs then gset fire to

all the bodies except a sroup of men, women, and children who had
tried to hide among some bushes i the northwest ccrner of the yard.
All albng the esst wall bodies were strung, and from the bullet
marks on the wall, these people were killed there and then their
bodics set afire. In the center of the yard were the remains of
twelve (12) charred bodies. Beside a fence covered with latice
work lay & mother holding a small doy. The mother lay in a posl-
tion as thoaigh attempting t o shield the child. . Th & drliveweay
beside & partially burned fire-truck werc two (2) more badly charred
wodies, whik on Colorado Strect, at the east side of the Price
residence, the charred remains of an undetermined number of human
bvodics were discovered, There is no possibility that any porsons
other than Japanecse could have burned these bodles for this parti-
cular section of the city was under artillery, machine gun, and
rifle fire at the time this atrocity was discovered.,

scco panied by Franclsco Del Rosario, funeral director of the
city of Menila, a visit was made to the Concordia College (Catholic)
where approximately one hundred (100) men, women, and children were
burnéd to death by the Japanese, The number of people kille & was
verified by the lMother Superior of the schod. whose atory to me was
as Tollows: ione night a body of Japancse gscldiers came to the
main door of the huilding and pounded loudly. A Chinese house boy
went to open the door, and as soon as the door was opened, the
Chinaman was boyoneted several times by a Jap goldier who then
strinned the body and poured gasoline ovcr the clothes, threw gas-
oline over the woodwork of the frong of the building end set it
afire. The Japs then nosted themselves arowmd the building and
would allow no oné %to escape. O0I the one hundred (100) persons
in the building, nineteen charred hodies were seen, An ceotire
family of mother, father, and threo small children, one an infant,
lay on the flag stones of the corrt inside the main entrance, and
these bodies wero also badly burned.”

r At Fort Santiago, within the Wd led City, approximately six
hundred (600) Filipinos were discovered in three dungeons. O0One
hundred (100) bodies of men and women Were doind within one thick-
walled dun-eon like bullding, and a closely estimated five hundred
(500) bodks were found within e nearby dungeon having inner doors
of messive iron bars, and outer doors of iron plate on wood. The
appearance of the bodics sugpested starvation and pogsibly suffo-
catlion,

At Plaza McKinley neer the ruins of the Manila Cathedral, forty
(40) priests from the Manila Cathedral were found murdered, some
with the‘r hands tied, shot, bayoneted, and left where they were
glain, the forty (40) Priests, five (5) were killed within a

Jap built dugout. (ALl «f these men atill wore thelr priest
clothing].

At the Campos residence on Taft Avenus, forty-five (495) women,
res b of whom wore slacks, were found. Evidence of acsault was
apparent onmany of the women, and several women had becn pierced
through their cenital organs by the Jap bayonets. Counted among
this rroup.were several children, all of whom were crueslly bay-

onetted.
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The matters set forth herein were all personally observed
by the undersigned, whc was accompanicd at all t imes by M.
Mariano Del Rosario and Mr. Francisco Del Rogsario, undertakers
for the Clby of Manila, P,I,

/g/ David V. Binkley
/t/ DAVID V. BINKLEY,
Ma jor, SnC.
Division Sanitary Inspector

sworn to before re and subscribed in my prescnce whla Llith

day of lMarch 1945,

/s/ Paul E. Congdon

/t/ PAUL E. CONGDOW
Lt G0l JAG,
Division JA

g
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MANILA, PHILIPPINE ISLANDS

11 March 1945

AFPFIDAYLEY
we the undersigned, being duly sworn, on our caths say
e have examined the affidavit of Major David V. Binkley,
sn¢, relative to the atrocities in *he ¢ity of Manila. We and

"gach of us personally accompanied Major Binkley at the times

he made the observation related in his affidevit and we like=
wide observed evervthing described by him., The statements made
by Major Binkley are accurate, true and correct In every parti-
cular,

/s/ Mr. Mariano Del Rosarilo
/t/ Vr. Mariano Del Rosario
! Under taker
gity of Manila, P,I.

/s/ r, Francisco Del Rosario
/t/ Mr, Francisco Del Rosar io
Tmdertaker
City of Meaniis Bl

Sworn to before me and subscribed in my presence thitae llth
day of March 1945,

/ Paul E. Congdon
/ PAUL E, CONCDON,
Tibie Gl oy " JAG

Division JA
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Feb, 23, 1945: Jap atrocity. Women and
P - children killed in the Walled City, Manila

by the Japanese,

Photo by US Army Signal Corps
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- Feb. 23, 1945-Jap atrocity: Filipino
civilian shot in the head and found
with his hands tied. Walled City, Manila.
Photo by US Army Signal Corps
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Feb. 23, 1945-US Army Medics helping
wounded civilians in a passage of the
Walled City, Manila.
Photo by US Army Signal Corps

SIQ?HE% lil@) T

9l

4
4

81 Ll

61

st dontnabtabtunleatobon b ntinbn

A

_
N = | et
= | 1
— g
M=
L
~_E S
L
~_=
L
N =
L
N =
o=
N =
e -
B |
nN_=
® =
4 -
N _=
L

&

|

0

T e

ZE If

£€



| DECLASSIFIED
Authority _ 795006 "y
By KYNARA Date waln

IHSNr INSIY3S wspoz
L 9 1] v £ z i

un|uu|||uhul!mlim1||uiIm||1mInnlnnhnrln||l|u|||mlmlhmhmhmluu

llll!fl I

vear
1 1l

SI@ 'Hm l£l® 14

9l

Ll

8l

Feb, 23, 1945: Jose Malco of Gastambide
Asnipaloc, Manila, in the San Lazaro Hospital
where he is receiving treatment for first
degree burns suffered at the hands of the Japs
Imperial Marines. ldalco was burned in his
home while trying to salvage some of his per-
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2-= '3 sonal belongings. He was emerging with some of
= - his things when he was met by a Jap flame

N= thrower and was forced back into his house. By
= the time he was able to come out again he was

o = a victim of first degree burns and had to be

WS taken to the hospital by several of his friends.
= The above statement was signed and attested by

= Dr. Montano Pleonde of San Lazaro Hospital.
= (See original captions.)

N = Photograph by US Army Signal Corps
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-= Brief; Case 1l
LS
3_5:_ Atrocity report in connection with several
& = group cases of atrocities committed by the
== Japanese upon civilians in the Manila area,
;ﬁi"_.E Three groups of dead civilians (a) 11
&S men, 1 small baby, (b) L women, 6 babies,
B = (¢) 2 women, 2 children were discovered,
G= many with bayonet wounds and with their
= hands tied behind their backs.
e Other civilians recovered alive stated
= that they were wounded vhen approximately
el 30 civilian men, women and children, while
= seeking refuge in a shelter, were attacked
== with sabers and bayonets by 12 Japanese,
= who killed most of the civilians and wounded
:;_*:- X the remaining ones.
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SECRET

HEADQUARTERS 1ST BN, 129TH INFANTRY
APO # 37

18 February 1945
AwF=F=I-D=A-V-I~-T

Personall, appeared before me the undersigned, authorized by military law
to administer oaths, one Captain William Kropf, 0-31990L, MC, Surgeon, lst
Battalion, 129th Infantry Regiment, who being duly sworn deposes and says:

I am battalion surgeon of the First Battalion, 129th Infantry Regiments On
12 February 1945, in Manila, P,I,, some civilians werc brought into my aid station
for medical treatment. One woman and her six old daughter were carried in, They
were either Filipinos or Chinese and the woman had one bayonet wound in her chest
and amother in her thigh., The little girl had 6 bayonet slashes in her back and
side.

One male Filipino and one male Chinese had decp slashes in the back of their
necks and I gave them blood plasma, The fifth one was a rather elderly Chinese
man who had been bayonetted in his body several times. He could speak a little
English and he told me that about 30 civilien men, *women, and children had been in
some sort of a shelter when suddenly approximately one dozen Japanese came in and
slashed them with sabers and bayonets, killing most of them and wounding the rest.
He said that after the Japanese left the shelter, those of the civilians who surviwed,
had fled. I gave them all medical treatment and they were later evacuated.

/s/ William Kropf

/%/ WILLIAM XROPF, 0-319901,
Captain, MC, 129th Inf.,
1st Bn Surgeon,

Subscribed and sworn to before me this 18th Day of February 1945, at Head-
quarters, 129th Infantry Regiment, APO #37, c/o Postmaster, San Francisco,
California, i

/s/ Jaccb Close,

/t/ JACOB CLOSE,
Captain, 129th Inf.,
Adje, 1st Bna

HEADQUARTERS 129TH INFANTRY
APO 37

18 February 1945

Personally appeared before me the undersigned, authorized by military law to
administer oaths, one Major FRANK J, MIDDELBERG, 0-L53898, S-2, 129th Infantry
Regiment, who being duly sworn deposes and says:

I am the S-2 of the 129th Infantry Regiment, I received word that the bayonet=-
ted bodies of some civilims had been found in the city of Menila, Luzon, P.I. and
on 13 February 1945, at approximately 1100, I went to investigate, Upon arriving
at the scene I found 2 groups of civilians who had been dead for 2 or 3 days.

The first group contained the bodies of 11 men and I judged them to be Filipino
and Chinese, The clothing on 2 of them had been partially removed before we arrived
and T saw wounds in their chest which in my opinion were caused by bayonets. Four
of the bodies had their hands tied behind their backs. There was also the body of a
child whom I should judge was approximately 1 year olds The body had a bayonet
wound in the left chests

-] -
SECRET
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A fow yards away another group of dead civilians lays This group contained the
Bodies of L women, L boy about’ 12 yearsold, and 6 babies whom I judged to be from
¢ - 18 menthe of age. One woman appeared to be over LO years old and had her hands
tied behind her back. One had a bayonet wound in her lower back == I did not turn
her over to see whether or not she had been stabbed anywhere else, The other 3 wo-
men were your v and one of these women had a bayonet wound in her chest, I did not
examine the ° or tie babies thoroughly, but I didnotice that one of the babies had
a bayoneb wou:d in its face.

T - -ders’nd that there was a third group of dead civilians nearby, but I did
noc g6 o exanine them.

/s/ Frank J. Middelberg :

/t/ FRANK J, MIDDELBERG, 0-L53898,
Major, 129th Infantry Regiment,
Regimental S=2,

Sysscribed and sworn to before me, this 18th day of February 1945, at Headquar—
&P0 37, /o Postmaster, San Francisco, Calif,

/s/ Curtis R. Craver,

/%/ CURTIS R. CRAVER,
Capta., 129th Inf.,
Adjutant.

HEANQTARLEAS 129th TNFANTRY
APO #37

18 February 1945
AT P-ToDe AV T=T

Pefsundl 1y apprisea before me thé undersigned, authorized by military law
fo edminister oaths, one Captain WILTIAX! C. GARDEER, 0-lkR625, MC, 129th Infan-
tr7 Regiment, who being duly sworn deposaes and says: -

T am A tant Regimental Surgeon of the 129th Infantry Regiment, On 13
Febyuary 19k, ab approximately 110C; I accompanied Lt. Colonel Demas L, Sears
to exoaine £ome dead civilians in the city of Manila, Luzon, P.I. We found these
dead ei ilians in throe groups and it is my cpinion that they had been dead approx=
 dmately itiree . 3) days. : 2

e

4 C

: “he first grovn we eramined contained the bodies of eleven (11) adult males
and one (1) baiy, Some of the pecple appeared to be Filipinos and others were

Chiness. ‘he ared to be from eichbt months to one year in age and had a
bayonet weend in ites right cisst. The eleven adult males appeared to have been
feom bwenby (20) to forty (L0) years of age. We removed the clothing from the

bodies of wwo of the men end found bayonet wounds in' their chests. I feel cer-
tain thot +he other nine (9) men were also bayoneted, but I did not examine them

closely. Three or four of the bodiecs h=d thelr hands bound behind thelr backs.

»y d%stance further, ws fovnd a second group of dead civilians of °

ng Filiping origin. This group contained the bodies of four (L)

womeh, six (6) babies, znd one (1) boy sbout 12 years of age, Three of the women
were ahoubthirty (30} years of age and one was over forty (L40) years of age. The
latter had hor hands *ied behind her back and had a bayonet wound through her left
breast and. oo “n the dorsal region. I examined one of the other women and found
that she had a ayouet wound througn her sternvm, I did not closely examine the
other two wome . The six dead babies ranged from six (6) to eighteen (18) months
of age., I examined the body of one of the bables and “ound it had been bayoneted
through the left cheel, I did not make an examination of the body of the twelve

i

year old boy who was of Mongol descent,

g . short distanen away, another group of dead civilians lay, but I did not
got over to examine them. trom where I stood I could see the body of one women
although I w - sretand there wers some other bodies there also,
: /s/ William C, Gardner,
/t/ WILLIAM C. GARDNER,

Captain, Medical Corps,
> Asst, Regt'l. Surg.
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SECRET

. Subscribed and sworn to before me this 18th day of February 1945, at Headguart-
ers, 129th Infantry Regiment, APO #37, c/o Postmaster, San Francisco, Calif,

/s/ Curtis R, Craver,
/t/ CURTIS R. CRAVER -
Capt., 129th Inf,,

Adjutant,
HEADQUARTERS, 1ST BN, 129TH INFANTRY
APO #37
13 February 1945
A=F-F-I-D=A~V-I-T

Personally appeared before me the undersigned, authorigzed by military law to
administer oaths, one Staff Sergeant Harlow G. Clark, ASN 3LS77L37, Headquarters
Company, lst Battalion, 129th Infantry Regiment, who being duly sworn deposes and
says:

I am a sergeant in the Intelligence section of the lst Battalion Headquarters,
129th Infantry Regiment, On 12th February 1945, I was part of a group which was re=
connoitering for a forward observation post when I found several groups of dead ciw
vilians whom I believe had been killed by the Japanese soldiers, These people were
in 3 groups, In the first group were 1l men and one small baby. It is my opinion
thet they were Chinese and Filipinos. The baby was about one year old and had a big
gash in its right chest which I believe had been caused by a bayonet, Thyee of the
men had their hands bound behind their backs and although I did not closely examine
all of the bodies, I could see that several of them had bayonet wounds in their

chest and backs.

A 1ittlefarther.on I found another heap of dead civilians. Four women, one of
vwhose hands were tied behind her back, were lying on the grounds There were the
bodies of 6 babies less than 2 years old also lying there and one boy about 12 years
of age. I noticed that the woman whose hands were tied had a bayonet wound in her
back and two more in her chest. I saw that one of the other women also had been
bayonetted i the chest and that one of the babies had been bayonetted in the cheeks
A short dig® mce farther lay the bodies of 2 women and 2 children, but I do not
know how they had been killed as I did not examine them,

On. the morning of 12 February 1945, I met some other civilians who had been
injured by the Japanese, These civilians were Chinese and Filipino and were still
alive, I first encountered L men who were badly wounded. Three of them had their
hands tied behind them. One of the men could talk a little English and he said
that he was Chinese., I noticed that he had at least 3 bayonet wounds in him,
Another man also had bayonet wounds in his body and the remaining 2 had large deep
gashes in the back of their necks, which looked like saber wounds. We sent the L
men baclk to our aid station for treatment,

Also on the 12th of February 1945, I found a smell Chinese gi-l, about 6 or 7
years old, lying on a wamen on the ground, The little girl was crying and bleeding
and upon investigating I found that both the woman and little girl were alive al-
though they had been injured. The little girl had been bayonetted 3 times in the
back, The woman was also bleeding and I believe her leg was hurt but I did not
examine hers One of our litter squads carried them back to the aid stations

/s/ iHarlow G, Clark ¥

/%/ S/Sgt. Harlow @, Clark,
ASN 34577437, Hg Co lst Bn
129th Infantry Regiment,

Subscribed and sworn to before me, this 13th Day of February, 1945, at Head-
quarters lst Battalion, 129th Infantry Regiment, APO 37 c/o Postmaster, San Fran-
cisco, California, i

/s/ Jacob Close

/t/ JACOB' CLOSE 5
Cﬂpt;, 1291;}1 Inf-’
Adjutante
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DECLASSIFIED

S ECRER

HEADJUARTERS 1ST BN, 129TH INFANTRY
APO #37

13 February 1945.
AmFeFeT=D=A=V=I~T

Personally appeared before me the undersigned, autherized by military law to
adninister oaths, one Private First Class Serifine F, Ruggio , ASN 36716549, Com=
pany A, 129th Infantry Regiment, who being duly sworn deposes and says:

on 12 February 1945, I saw a group. of civilians whom had been killed and wound-
ed by the Japanese in the city of MYanila, P,I, Four of the men, vho were either
Chinese or Filipinos, were still alive and I helped them back to our aid station,
One of them could talk a little English and he said to me: "Japanese stick, sticki"
He also made gestures which indicated to me that they had been bayonetted by the
Japanese. e had one bayonet wound in the side of his chest which I saws. He may
have had others too, for I did not examine him, I noticed that one of the men had
his hands tied behind his back and I saw S/Sgt Clark cub away the boundse A1l four
of the men were wounded and 2 of them had big, deep gashes in the back of their

necks which looked as thouzh they had been cut with sabers.

: I also sev 2 groups of dead civilians. One of them contained the bodies of

11 men and 1 snall baby about a year olde Three or four of the men had their hands’
tied behind them and several of them, including the’ small baby, had been bayonetted.
A little farther away I saw a group of |, dead women, one boy abdut 12 years of age
and 6 babies less than 2 years olds I noticed that one of the women had her hands
tied behind her back and had & bayonet wound in hee back which appeared to go com—
pletely through her bodye There were also 2 other bayonet wounds in her chest. One
of the babies had been bayonetted in the face, I did not examine the other bodies
completely, but I am of the opinion that all of them had been bayonetted.

/s/ Serefine T, Ruggio’
/t/ Serefine F. Rugglo, 36716549
Pfc., Comapny A, 129th Inf.

Subseribed” and sworn to before me, this 13th day of February 1945, at Head=
quarters lst Bn, 129th Infantry Regiment, APO 37, ¢/o Postmaster, San Francisco,
California.

/s/ Jacob Close

/t/ JACOB®CLOSE
Capti, 129th Inf.,
Adj,, 1st Bns
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Feb, 23, 1945: Jap atrocity. Women and
children killed in the Walled City, Manila
by the Japanese,

Photo by US Army Signal Corps

Feb. 23, 1945: Apolonio Kolina of kalate,
Manila, shown in the San Lazaro Hospital where
he is suffering from first degree burns suf-
fered at the hands of the Japanese Imperial
Marines, Kolina was in the Walled City and in
an air raid shelter when he was so severely
burned. He and others were in the shelter when
the Japs turmed their flames throwers on them.
He was the only survivor and was rescued by
several Filipino Nuns and was later taken to
the hospital by American medics. The above
statement is signed and attested by Dr. Mon-
tano Pleonde of the San Iazaro Hospital., (See
original captions,)

Photograph by US Army Signal Corps
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Feb. 23, 1945: #Angel Gajo, 38 years, L30 Herran, Paco,
Manila, shown in the San Lazaro Hospital where he is
being treated for first degree burns suffered at the
hands of Japanese Imperial troops. Gajo refusing to
leave his home wiich was about to be burned by the Japs,
was bound and left to burn with it. Miraculously and
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N_—E n despite the fact that he was severely burned, he was

i able to crawl out of the flaming house and be rescued
= by a few of his friends. He was brought to the hos-

N—= pital where he is receiving treatment, The above
= statement was signed and attested by nr. Gregorio J.

N_= Floresca of the San Lazaro Hospital., (See original
= captions,)

o = Photograph by US Army Signal Corps.
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DECLASSIFIED

Brief: Case 12

Report of an atrocity committed on five
women, two men and a baby, involving the
family of BARTOLFME PONS, a Spaniard.

Japanese captain and five enlisted
men approached wife of FONS, demanding
chickens, which werc refused. Same group
of soldiers were observed to return later
in the evening and five shots werc heard.
The bodies of five women, two men and one
baby were subsequently discovered in the
house, two of the men and three of the
women with hands tied behind their backs.
The baby had been bayonetted.
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HEADQ@ ARTERS
~N Divisdion Artlilery
APO #37 ¢/o Postmaster, San Francisco, Calif.
o

AFFIDAVIT 15 Web. 1945,

ATROCITY REPORT

14
sntnuhtsddmsbotod sttt

w on the afterncon of 15 Februvary 1945, T visited a home at
503 Fisuero Street, Manila; accormanied by T/4 Steven Loska, G-2

. Section, 37th Divisicn; T/5 wWillism Kuntz, Mg. Co., 37th Divisilon;
n end Glarles H Loeb, Accredited War Correspondent.
1)}
E“ In a large room on the lower fleoor of the residence, we found
= a group of bodies; five women, two men, and a baby. The baby had
foo been beyonetted. The two men ehd three of the women had their

handes tied behind their backs. At the rear of the home lying at
the foot of a stalrway was the body of a ferman Shepherd dog.

] The bodies were photographed by TA Loska (prints accompany
<:,_ this report). The decomposition of the bodies prohibited de=-

tailed examination as to the exact cause of death, but bayonet and
cunshot wounds were plainly observable on several of the adult
bodies.

wer
I

s s n ,
69'5 An investigation in the irmmediate neighborhood led to an
== interview with a Filipino, one Mario Chanco, a neighbor of the
. deceasad, who has contributed articles to Manila newspapers and
o= .o/ nagazines. Chanco relabted the followling story:
e 2
-
& = "The house is bthe property of Rartolome Pons, a pure-blooded
;*E Spaniard.who is quite wealthy and a stockhold er in the Tabacalera
= enterprises
- =
e = Last ''ednesday (7 February 1945) at about 5:30 P.,M, a J®panese
= Ceptain, accompanied by five enlisted men, calle d at the home and
a= demanded of Dona Victorina Pons, wife of Senor Pons, that she supply
= them with ‘hickens.
®= ;
= Dona Victorina Pong apjrarently refused the, for I could hear
&3 her tell them angrily im 3panish, "o chickens for you",
vz

The Japanese Captain was angered by her imperious tone and
her refusal (Here Chanco related that the Dona was not liked by
the neighbors because she considered herself of a higher class

- than they, and held herself and family alcof from neighborly con=

0

N =

*_g tact). A loud. argument then ensued, and Tinally I cobserved the

o = Done seize the hair of one of the soldiers and glve his head a

NS yanlt,

m-g In an angry voice the Japanese Captain threatened to return.
= Around 7 P.M. the sane evening he did return with the soldiers,

w_ = We watched them enter the house, Shortly after, we heard five

e shots. The rest I do not know because along with other witnesses,

- B I fled the vicinity."

W =
A fisked whether he thought the home was locted by the Japanese,

N= Chanco answered that it might well have been stripped by civilians
= after the Japanese had left.

NE=

M Qur minute examinaticn of the home showed evidence that it had

~'§ been thoroughly stripped of all v aluables. The remaining furniture

&= showed good taste and weelth. Passports issuved to Senor Pons esta=
= blishes his nationality as Spanish. Another pass port was found

8=
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izsued to Rosario Garcia, which may or may not be the maiden
anme of Dona Victorina. Both pascports are attached to this
report.

Tdentification of bodics was as follows: Bartolome Pons
and wife Victorina:; two adopted daughters, Pacita and Eva; one
vear old son; the female servants; next door neighbor (male).

/s/ Donald D. Porward
/%/ DOALD D. PPORWARD
Major, WM.C.

gubseribed to and sworn to before me this 23rd day ol February,
1945.

/s/ Paul E. Congdon

/t/ PAUL E. CONZDOY,
Lt. Colonel, JAGD,
Staff Judze Advocatel,
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HEADGUARTTRS
Division Artillery
APO #37 c¢/o Postmaster, San Francisco, Calif.

AFETIDAVIT 23 Feb. 1945

We, the undersigned, on February 15, 1945 vigited
the house &t 503 Figuero Street and witnessed the
scene of the atrocity described by Major Donald D.
Forward in the sdccompanying affidavit entitled
Atroclty Report. We subscribe to the report in
every detail. 8igned ir the presence of each other.

/s/ Albert M. Unteh
/t/ ALBERT M. UNTCH
Ma jor:, F.A,

/s/ Purke D. Denison
/t/ DURKE B. DENISON
Me jor, Fobs

subscribed and sworn to before me this 23rd day of
February, 1945,

/s/ Paul E. Congdon,

/t/ Paul E. Congdon,
Tt Colonel ., JAGD,
3taff Judge Advocate.
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DECLASSIFIED

HEADQULRTERS *
11TH AIRBORNE DIVISION

ARD 168
21 February 1945

SUBJECT: Report on Atrocity,

TO Com -nding General, Headquarters XIV Corps, APO 453,

.

Rugene kndrecwitz Kremleff, Russian citizen (emigrent) living ab
3l Delpan, Pasay, Inzon, Philippine Islands, wes routed from his shelter the
afternoon of 9 February 1945 by the Japerese and teken prisoners. Krenle fflg
decd body wes discovered in a foxhole in the yard of & perfume-dye factory
approximately one block fram his residence on the morning of 11 February
1945 by members of the 51Ith Infantry. Kremleff, hends tied behind his back
had been beaten about the head end face, shot through the back of the head, and
severely bur .84, Identification of the body was made by Constantine Strashnicov,
neighbor, ar . further identification of & portion ef the shirt worn by the vietim
was mde by his widow.

The following persons witnessed the condition of the bady at the
spot at which it was discovered:

Mr, Michael Meier, Danish Citizen, Néighbor,

My, Constantine Strashnicov, Russian Citizen, Neighbor,
Lt, Col., Henry-J, Muller, Jr., G-2, 1llth Lirborne Div,
1t, Col, Walsh, S-2, 511th Farachute Infantry Regiment.
lMajor Eerl G, Widnyer, hss't. G-2, 1llth Lirborne Div,
Sgt, James H, McGrath, igent, 1lth CIC Detachient,
Tech l Bertram Lbrams, Photogrepher, llth Lirborme Div,.

According to Strashnicov, the only reason to be given for this
atrocity was the fact that the viectim lived in the vicinity of Dewey Boulevard
and the Japamsse were very suspiclous of any persous living in this territory,
Mrs, Kremleff stated that the fumily had been molested occasionelly by the
Japanese and that on 9 February 1945, after her husbend had been taken prisoner
by the Japanese, one Jeparese soldier attempted to assault her, .

Brzene Andreeviteh Kremleff wes born in Kazan Kussia and vias 41
years old, His perents still reside in Kazan, Russis, EKremleff left Russia
in 1922 &nd went to Chinc, He remained in China and wes engaged in teaching
Mathemetics and Science at colleges from 1922 to 1936, In 1936 he left China
and proceeded to the Philippine Islands. Since his arrival in the Philippines
he h s been employed by the lMasbate Consolidated Mining Company. He was merried
in Mapila, Philippine Islands, on 16 July 1939 to Helen K, Bruzinsky, also a
Russian citizen (emigrant)., In addition to his wife, aged 33 years, he is
survived by %wo children, Alexender aged 5 years, and Olge aged 3 1/2 years,
His religic was Greek Qrthodox.

The following is a partisl list of the neighbors of the Kremleff
Tamilys

Michael Meier, Danish Citizen

Mrs., Bthel Meier, American Citizen

Theo Meyer end family, Swiss Citizens

John G, Hohmann and family, Swiss Citizens

John Keller and family, Swiss Citizens

Mrs, Herry Barr, wife of Col. Barr, 4LUS, at present
a Pi somewnere in this vicinity,
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Photographs teken at the spot the body was discovercd, and signed
affidavits by Helen Kremleff and Constantine Strashnicov, ere attached
herewith,

For the Commanding General: -

W/LDO NELSON
Mejor  AGD
Asst Adj Gens

Inclsr =3
Photographs (3)
Lffidavit b Helen Kremleff
Affidavit by Constentine Strashnicov
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City of PASLY

Province of [ZAL

I, Helen Kremleff, residing &t 34 Delpan, Pasay, heving been first duly
awern, do affirm and declare that:

it eabout 1130 P.ii. on Friday, 9 February 1945, I was in our shelter
with my %wo children, while my husband, Bugene &Andreewitch Kremleff, was
in our house., I had gone to the shelter with the children because of the
bBhelling going on at that time. Three Japanese soldisrs appeared, one
armed with a machine gun and the other two armed with rifles and bayonets,
The soldiers asked my husband for the passport cnd pepers of myself and the
children., They then told rmy husband thet the children and I would h:ve to
go with them for investigation, He asked the soldiers if it would not be
possible to leave the family in the shelter and he would go with thems .
Two of the soldiers took him end two Filipinos and left. The Filipinos
were tied but my hushband was not., The one Japanese soldier apparently in
charge of the group remained in the shelter for approximately twenty minutes.
Lfter this time the two soldiers reéturned without my husband end stated he
would return sfter five minubtes, 41l three soldiers then left the shelter,
I waited for 1y busband all afterroon and until about 8 o'clock thet night,
T then left the shelter to go in search of him, When I left the shelter I
saw one Japanese soldier, apparently a guard or sentry, This soldier grabbed
me by the hend and tock me back into the shelter, There he forced his attentions
on me end made attempts to assault me. I struggled to fres myself from him
and asked the two children to ery end shout in order to call the attentien of
some of the neighbors. In the strupgle I was able to free myselfl and I grabbed
the two children and ren oub the other door of the shelter ond headed towards the
home of neighbors, calling 'help' over and over again, The Japerese soldier
did not purs e

On Surday morning, 11 February 1945, I returned $o our home and found thet
all of our possessions had been searched and everything strewn about the place

_in our ubsenceo.

On 11 February 1945 Col, Walsh of the 51Ith Infantry reported to
Constantine Strashnicov, a neighbor, that his troops had discovered the body
of a white man who had been killed by the Japanese, Mr. Strashnicov went
and identified the body as that of my husband, and brought back with him a
piece of the shirt worn by the deceased, I further identified this as & piece
‘of the shirt worn by my husband ~hen he was taken by the Japanesew.

Further affiant sayeth not.
Signature Helen Kremleff

Bubscribed and sworn to befors me this
21st day of February 1945,

, FRANK L, BARBEE

FRANK L, B/RBEE, 2d L., M.I.
Commanding, 11th CIC Detachments
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AFEIDLY LT
City of PASK

Province of RIZAL

I, Constantine Strashnicov, residing at 80A Delpan, Pasay,
havine been first duly swern, do affirmy and declsre thati

On the morning of 11 February 1945, Col, Walsh of the
511th Infantry saw me ond told me thet his trops hed discovered the body
of & white men and thought I might be able to identify ite I went with
Col, Walsh to the yard of the perfume-dye factory about one block from
my home., There, in a foxhole, I saw the body of Eugene Kremleff, husbaud
of Helen Kremleff, The deceased, his hends tied behird his beck, had been
shot through the back of the head and had been severely burred from the
waist down, In addition, there were merks and bruises about the fece. I
tore a pisce out of the shirt tha dead wman was wearing and took it back
to Helen Kremleff who-further identified it as & piece of the ghirt her
husb.nd was weering when he was taken by the Japanese.

Further affiant sayeth not.

Sigra ture C. Strashnicov

Subscribed and sworn to before me this
21st day of February 1945,

FRANK L, BiE B,

FRIIK L. BARGEE,

2d It., M I,,

Comrizanding 1lth CIC Det.
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HE.DOULRT it TIFTE. CuVALRY

APC 201
20 February 1945

AFEIDAYZIT

Before me the undersigned authority for administering oaths, personally
ape ared Captein John H. Amesse, 0326435, Medical Carps, lst Squadron, 5th
Cavalry, who being duly sworn deposes and says. :

That I, Captain John H, Lmesse, Medical Corps, lst Sguadron, 5th Cavelry,
on 15 ard 16 February 1945 witnessed and attended over twenty (20) Filipino
civilicns in the area of Guedalupe, Manila, P,I. £11 of these civilians
were suffering from one to six deay old wounds inflicted by Japanese soldiers,
Lmong the wounds observed I noted the following:

&

L

1, Five teen-aged girls exhibited bilaterally emputcated nipples and

rareolae, with penetrating bayonet wounds of both chest and abdome n.

2., A&t least four children under 5 years of age wsre suffering from
severe burns &nd stab wounds.

3. One elderly man exhibited a very severe laceration involving both
gars and posterior cervical region, -
% L. One girl of sbout 10 years, and one 2 year old boy exhibited
amputations, complete, of left forearm,

5. Ore small boy wes found dead with through and through steb wounds
in the chest nd neck. d

Turther evidence of atrocities committed upon Filipine civiliens

can be obgserved in any of the civilian hospitals in this area,

Further deponent sayeth not.

JOHN H. AMESSE,

JCHN H., AMESSE,

Captain, MC.

Surgeon, lst Squadron, 5th Cav,

SWORN ;ND SUBSCRIEED TO BRFORE ME THIS 20 DA F FEERUARY 1945

Fo J. e CONTEEN,
B Jo Wy CONTHEN,
Ma jor, Cavalry,
Ad jutant
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Filipino child with a bayonet wound in the
stomach. (Menila, P.I.)
Photographer T/L4 Ira Rosenberg

SWPA-SigC-L5-13133 March 2, 1945
Consuelo Yulo-Singalong-As they left

their burning houses, the Japs machine=-
gunned this woman and her two sisters.
Since she wasn't wounded, the Jap bayonet-
ted her in both sides to make sure they

b had killed all. They played dead until
night and escaped. Photo taken in the
w (San Lazaro Hospital, Manila, P.I,)

€€

o bdidon

Photographer Pvt Hal Winston
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Feb. 23, 1945: Ignacio Quazon of Pasig, Rizal in
Manila shown in the San Lazaro Hospital where he is
being treated for saber wounds suffered at the hands
of Japanese Imperial Marines. When he learned that
his home was going to be burned by the Japs, Quazon
~ started to salvage some of his personal belongings.
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= It was while he was seen emerging from his home with
a few of his things that he was summoned by a Jap,

N who, after asking a few questions, threw him to the
ground and began kicking him. When Quazon arose and

o attempted to run away, the Marine drew his saber and

w struck him a blow on the left side of his face and
neck. When he was taken to the hospital, it was

b~ discovered that a nerve had been severed thus
paralizing his entire left side, The above statement

~N was signed and attested by Dr. Montano Pleonde of the

= San Lazaro Hospital.

- Photograph by US Army Signal Corps,
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DECLASSIFIED

Feb. 23, 1945: MNiximo Pingal residing in the
Walled City, Manila, was made prisoner by the
Japs when the city was turned into a fortress.
For three days prior to the assault and en-
trance of the American troops, Pingal had been
bound and blindfolded in his home., On the mor-
ning of the entrance of our trcops he was
dragged out of his house by Japanese Imperial
Marines and was struck in the neck and arm by
one of their sacers,.there he was left to die
as the Japs retreated to other parts of the
city. Pingal was subsequently rescued by US
Army Med. Corps and taken to San Lazaro Hos-
pital, Manila, where this photo was taken, for
treatment. The attached statement was signed
(see original caption) and attested to by

. Miximo Pingal. The above is based on facts

of same original statement.
Photograph by US Army Signal Corps

RN e
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SWPA-SigC~L5-13134 March 2, 1945
Mrs. Genoveva Pozon-She was bayonetted by
the Japs after refusing to submit to as-
sault, She lives in (Pasig, Rizal and the
photo was taken at Psychopathic Hospital,
Manila, P.I.)

; Photographer Pvt Hal Winston
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with a group of ten men, He was the only
one left alive and played dead to escape.
Photo taken in the (San Lazaro Hospital,
(Manila, P.I.)

Photographer Pvt Hal Winston
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= O SWPA-SigC-LS-13173 March 2, 1945
= . Godofredo G. Rivera-He was machine-gunned
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SWPA-SigC-L45-13128 March 2, 1945

Mrs. Rosia Carugtos-Her baby was bayonetted
in her ams. She and her two sisters were
raped and bayonetted by the Japs. Her child
and sisters died. Photo taken at the (San
Lazaro Hospital, Manila, P.I.)

Photographer Pvt Hal Winston
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. : SWPA-S1gC-L5-13177  March 2, 1945
Louis Trinidad-He was bayonetted and burned
afterwards in fire caused by hand grenades
thrown into the (San Augustine Church)
shelter. He lives at (Intramuros and the
photo was taken in the San Lazaro Hospital,
Manila, P.I,)
Photographer Pvt Hal Winston
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